Aus dem CharitéCentrum 3 für Zahn-, Mund- und Kieferheilkunde Abteilung für Kieferorthopädie, Orthodontie und Kinderzahnmedizin Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. dent. Paul-Georg Jost-Brinkmann

### Habilitationsschrift

## Cleft lip and palate: a variable clinical spectrum. Medical and dental considerations

zur Erlangung der Lehrbefähigung für das Fach Zahn-, Mund- und Kieferheilkunde mit Schwerpunkt Kieferorthopädie vorgelegt dem Fakultätsrat der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin

> von Theodosia N. Bartzela Dr. med. dent., MSc., Ph.D. geboren in Patras, Griechenland

Eingereicht: April 2021

Dekan: Prof. Dr. Axel R. Pries 1. Gutacher: Herr Prof. Dr. Michael Wolf 2. Gutacher: Herr Prof. Dr. Christopher J. Lux

Dedicated to my parents

#### Contents

#### 1. Introduction

	1.1	Incidence of CLP according to ethnicity, cleft type, and sex	5
	1.1.1	Ethnicity	5
	1.1.2	Cleft type	6
	1.1.3	Sex distribution and clefts	7
	1.2	Etiology and risk factors	8
	1.3	Associated malformations and syndromes	9
	1.3.1	Associated malformations	9
	1.3.2	Associated syndromes	11
	1.4	Tooth agenesis and CLP	11
	1.5	Orthodontic treatment in patients with CLP	12
	1.5.1	External apical root resorption during orthodontic treatment in	
		patients with CL/P	13
	1.5.2	Diagnostic tools for patients with CL/P	14
	1.6	Objectives of the thesis	14
2.	Publicat	ions	
	2.1	Associated congenital malformations in complete bilateral cleft	17
	lip and	d palate patients	
	2.2	Tooth agenesis patterns in unilateral cleft lip and palate in humans	34
	2.3	Apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment in patients	42

with unilateral cleft lip and palate

2.4 Photographs of dental casts or digital models: rating dental arch56relationships in bilateral cleft lip and palate56

2.5Clinical characterization of 266 patients and family members with63cleft lip and/or palate with associated malformations and syndromes

### 3. Discussion

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

	3.1	Results of the studies	86
	3.1.1	[Associated congenital malformations in patients with	86
	compl	ete bilateral cleft lip and palate]	
	3.1.2	Tooth agenesis patterns in patients with unilateral cleft lip	87
	and pa	late in humans	
	3.1.3	Apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment in patients	88
	with u	nilateral cleft lip and palate	
	3.1.4	Photographs of dental casts or digital models: rating dental	90
i	arch re	lationships in bilateral cleft lip and palate patients	
	3.1.5	Clinical characterization of 266 patients and family members	91
	with c	eft lip and/or palate with associated malformations and syndromes	
	3.2	Strengths and weaknesses of the studies and methodological	92
	consid	erations	
	3.3	Clinical implications	96
	3.4	Conclusions and recommendations for further research	100
S	umma	ry	102
R	eferer	nces	104
List of Abbreviations 1			117
Acknowledgements 1			119
Erklärung nach §4 Abs. 3 (k) der HabOMed der Charité 12			

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Incidence of CLP according to ethnicity, cleft type, and sex

Orofacial clefts (OFC) are the most common developmental anomalies resulting from incomplete fusion of the facial processes. OFCs are classified according to the anatomical region involved and the degree of severity, which can range from minor involvement (microforms, i.e., a ridge running on the white of the lip, bifid uvula, or submucous CL) (Alvarez et al., 2014) to complete facial clefts, that is extending to the nose, cheeks, eyes, or even till the forehead (Phan et al., 2016).

There are three main phenotypes: cleft lip only (CLO), cleft palate only (CPO), and cleft lip and palate (CLP). CLP can be complete (CCLP) or incomplete (ICLP) and can be unilateral (UCLP) or bilateral (BCLP). The different phenotypes of CLP occur in different developmental stages (Shkoukani et al., 2013).

The primary palate (premaxilla) is formed during the 6<sup>th</sup> gestational week. The primary palate is a fusion of the medial nasal processes, the central part of the lip, and the four incisors' alveolar processes. The lip development occurs between the 6th and 8th gestational week, and the secondary palate (hard) between the 6<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> gestational week (Shkoukani et al., 2013).

#### 1.1.1 Ethnicity

The incidence of orofacial clefts (OFCs) varies on ethnic and racial background, including the geographic area and the type of cleft (Mossey and Modell, 2012). The overall incidence of cleft lip and palate (CL/P) among Caucasians ranges from 0.91 to 2.69 per 1000 births (Vanderas, 1987).

In the EUROCAT special report, CLP patients' incidence was different among the European geographical regions. The lowest reported rate was in El Valles, Spain (0.63/1,000 births) and the highest in Finland (2.62/1,000 births) (EUROCAT, 2002) (Mossey and Modell, 2012).

In Germany, the prevalence was 14.52 in Saxony Anhalt and 23.85 in Mainz per 10,000 births (approximately 1/700 and 1/420 births, respectively) between 2001 and 2005 (Group, 2011). According to international data, the overall prevalence ranged from 3.4 to 22.9/10,000 births (Mossey and Castilla, 2003).

In another international database from 30 countries, 54 birth registries were included between 2000 and 2005 (Group, 2011). Data of 7.5 million births were presented. In total, 7,704

patients with CL/P have been registered. Among them, 7,141 were live births, 237 stillbirths, and 301 abortions, and in 25 of them, no information was available about the birth outcome. The overall prevalence of patients with CL/P was 9.92 per 10,000 births (approximately 1/1,000) (Group, 2011). Among these registries, South Africa had the lowest prevalence of CL/P (2.89/10,000), while Japan had the highest (20/10,000) (Group, 2011).

An international Database on Craniofacial Anomalies (ICDFA) was collected under the supervision of the WHO. Annual registration of 2 million births from 62 registries showed that the Indians, Aborigines, Scandinavians, and partially South Americans had the highest incidence rate. African, African American, and Southern Europe had the lowest incidence rate (Mossey, 2007).

In Singapore General Hospital, 1,105 new patients with CL/P were examined. The incidence of this cleft population (1985 to 1994) was 2.07 per 1,000 live births. Chinese was the group of patients with the highest incidence of 1.64 per 1000 compared to Indians and other ethnic groups (Yi et al., 1999).

In a meta-analysis based on data from low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) comprised 31,475,278 births, the birth prevalence of CL/P was 1.38 per 1000 (1/731) (Kadir et al., 2017). In this meta-analysis, the data and definitions provided in the literature were heterogeneous; therefore, a secondary analysis, based on a total of 75,627 births, had a prevalence of 0.75 per 1,000 births (Kadir et al., 2017).

OFC's overall incidence in New Zealand (in Maori and Pacific populations) between 2000 and 2010 was 1.79 per 1,000 live births. The Maori population had only patients with CPO, an increased rate of 2.37 per 1,000 live births (Thompson et al., 2016).

#### 1.1.2 Cleft type

The most common type of cleft deformity is the CLP (Korolenkova et al., 2019). The clefts were less severe in patients with CLO and CPO (Jensen et al., 1988).

The prevalence per cleft type reported was 39% for patients with CLP, 33% with CPO, and 28% with cleft lip/alveolus CL/A (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011). Similar is the reported distribution of cleft types in Denmark, where patients with CL/P were examined from 1976 to 1981. Among 602 patients, the reported cleft types were 39% for the patients with CLP, 34% for CLO, and 27% for CPO (Jensen et al., 1988).

Through the Human Genetic Program of the World Health Organization (WHO), data collected worldwide reported cleft-type distributions of 66.9% for CLP patients and 33.1% for

CLO. The prevalence reported by the WHO was 6.64 for patients with CLP and 3.28 for those with CLO per 10,000 births (Group, 2011).

The national survey in Japan showed similar results to the previously mentioned study. The incidence of 16,452 patients with a cleft was 6.2 for CLP, 4.2 with CL, and 2.8 with CPO per 10,000 births (Koga et al., 2016).

Contrarily, patients treated between 1998 and 2011 in Northern Finland had a higher incidence of CPO (68.7%) in comparison to the other cleft types (CLP (18.7%) and CL/A (12.6%)) (Lithovius et al., 2014). In agreement with (Lithovius et al., 2014), the data from the Czech Republic patients with CPO had the highest incidence (0.68/1,000), followed by the patients with CLP (0.57/1,000) and CLO (0.39/1,000) evaluated among 1,471,789 births between 1994 and 2008. The overall incidence was 1.64 per 1,000 live births (1 in 600) (Urbanova et al., 2013).

Regarding the distribution of the different cleft types, there is a significant variation in patients afflicted with CL/P compared to those with CPO in the various ethnic groups. Africans and African descent are more commonly affected by CLO, while Northern Europeans (mainly Finland and Scotland), Asians, Native Americans, and Aboriginal Australians are affected by CL/P (Mossey and Modell, 2012). Furthermore, bilateral cleft lip and palate (BCLP), the most severe type of cleft, was observed in only 7% of the 3,616 cleft patients (Sivertsen et al., 2008a).

Concerning the cleft's sidedness, the left-sided patients were almost 2 out of 3 (Korolenkova et al., 2019). In Northern Finland, where the incidence of patients with CL/P is higher than in other European countries, left-sided clefts were observed even more frequently (82% of patients) than right-sided clefts (18%) (Lithovius et al., 2014). The CL/P's left predominance has been observed in the offspring of affected and non-affected-family members (Sivertsen et al., 2008b). The cleft's severity was not related to the sidedness, and patients with BCLP had almost the same severity on both sides (Sivertsen et al., 2008a).

#### **1.1.3 Sex distribution and clefts**

Sex distribution in Danish infants born with clefts was 61% males and 39% females (Jensen et al., 1988). Males were affected more frequently with CLO and CL/P (Urbanova et al., 2013), with a stable male-to-female ratio of 1.75:1. Contrarily, females have a slight predominance on CPO compared to males. The male-to-female ratio was 0.97:1 in 1998,

which decreased to 0.59:1 in 2007 (Matthews et al., 2015). Girls were more likely to have severe clefts and other congenital malformations and syndromes (Sivertsen et al., 2008a).

#### 1.2 Etiology and risk factors

The etiology of nsCL/P is multifactorial. Both genetic and environmental factors are involved, but the pathogenetic mechanism is not elucidated (Raut et al., 2019). More than 300 genes have been identified for the syndromic and non-syndromic phenotypes (Bartzela, 2011; Maili et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, the maternal genes and environmental triggers are responsible for the pathogenesis and the phenotypic variability of patients with CL/P (Jugessur et al., 2010). The phenotypic differentiation in twins indicated the contribution of environmental factors (Grosen et al., 2011). Environmental contributors such as maternal risk factors like alcohol, smoking, diabetes, maternal age at conception, folate and zinc deficiency, and teratogens such as valproic acid, phenytoin, retinoic acid, chemicals, pesticides, and occupations related to leather and health care are contributing to the pathogenesis of the clefts (Shkoukani et al., 2013). Vitamins like A, B2, B6, B12, folic acid, and zinc (Marini et al., 2016) showed modest risk protection when used for maternal supplement nutrition around conception time (Wilcox et al., 2007).

Furthermore, the pathogenic mechanisms for nsCL/P and CPO (Ludwig et al., 2017) are distinct, and a strong genetic component of CPO has been emphasized (Dixon et al., 2011). The environmental contributors have been studied in twin patients (Grosen et al., 2011). A Danish study examined 39 non-syndromic CL/P twin patients. According to the findings of the study, CL/P's concordance rate was 60% in monozygotic and 10% in dizygotic twins (Christensen and Fogh-Andersen, 1993). These findings accentuate the environmental component of the pathogenic mechanism.

Interestingly, genetic variants involved in the "normal" facial phenotype of the non-affected individuals are also responsible for the nsCL/P phenotype (Howe et al., 2018). Minor variables on risk alleles involved in clefting, such as the *VAX1*, may affect smell and vision (Boehringer et al., 2011). Mutations in *PBX1*, *PBX2*, *TP63*, *BMP4*, *PBX-WNT-TP63-IRF6* regulatory pathways and interactions between the *PBX1* and *WNT9B* contribute to the nsCLP etiology (Maili et al., 2020). Furthermore, mutations of the interferon regulatory factor 6 (*IRF6*) gene have been associated not only with nsCL/P (Leslie et al., 2016) but also with the sCLPs, such

as the van der Woude syndrome (Khandelwal et al., 2017) and other associated dental, epidermal and genital malformations (Phan et al., 2016). Mutations in other genes, such as *TBX22, P63, BMP4, FGFR1,* and *FGFR2,* are involved in the pathogenesis of syndromic clefts (Shkoukani et al., 2013). Epigenetic factors (Takahashi et al., 2018) or genes that contribute to the laterality of organ development, such as e.g., the BCOR-gene in the Occulo-facio-cardio-dental syndrome (OFCD), may contribute to the laterality of the cleft (Hilton et al., 2007; Hilton et al., 2009). The severity of the cleft plays a pivotal role in the recurrence rate in the offspring (Mangold et al., 2011).

CLP's risk among siblings is 30 times higher than the general population's prevalence (Christensen and Fogh-Andersen, 1993). A gene-specific mutation or the associated *IRF6* haplotype could raise the recurrent familial risk to much higher values (Zucchero et al., 2004).

#### 1.3 Associated malformations and syndromes

Patients with severe CL/P were more likely to have malformations in other systems (Group, 2011). The National Birth Defects Prevention Network (NBDPN) in the United States and International Clearinghouse for Birth Defects Surveillance and Research (ICBDSR) worldwide reported a prevalence of CLP of 6.64 and CL 3.28 per 10,000. In their data, 5918 patients (76.8%) had no associated malformation, 1,224 (15.9%) had associated abnormalities, and 562 (7.3%) had an associated recognized syndrome (Group, 2011).

#### **1.3.1** Associated malformations

The prevalence of associated congenital malformations in orofacial clefts (OCs) is discussed in many studies, and the results vary widely. The reported prevalence of these anomalies ranges between 3% and 63.4% (Fraser, 1970). The Dutch association for clefts and craniofacial anomalies (NVSCA) collected data from 1997 to 2006, and 23% of 3,512 patients had family members with associated malformations (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011).

Furthermore, the severity of CL/P is associated with the degree of severity of the congenital malformations of other organs or systems (Group, 2011). Therefore, patients with CLP had more frequent associated malformations (34%) than the ones with CLO (20.8%) (Calzolari et al., 2007). An increased incidence of associated malformations has been reported in patients with BCLP, as it has been considered the most severe CLP phenotype (Hagberg et al., 1998). Following the previous reports, associated malformations have been reported in 35% of patients

with BCLP and 24% with UCLP (Milerad et al., 1997). In a prenatal diagnostic screening, more fetuses with BCLP (72%) were diagnosed with a congenital malformation than those with UCLP (48%) (Bergé et al., 2001).

The fact that CPO and CLP are distinct regarding their embryologic origin differentiates their occurrence with associated malformations (Wen, 2015). Therefore, the existence of any type of associated malformations was 19.8% for CL/P vs. 41.3% for CPO patients (Koga et al., 2016).

Data from southwestern Sweden collected for 30 years from children with different CPO phenotypes revealed associated congenital malformations in 34% of these patients (Chetpakdeechit et al., 2010). Patients with complete CPO had 1.7 times increased risk of co-occurrence with an associated anomaly than the less severe CPO phenotypes, such as the incomplete or the submucous CPO (Chetpakdeechit et al., 2010). The most common associated malformations were heart defects and intellectual impairment (Chetpakdeechit et al., 2010).

Additionally, various congenital anomalies have been observed in the head (68% in the mandible) and neck area (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011), cardiovascular (24-51%) and urogenital systems, vertebral column, and extremities, as well as in ears and eyes (anophthalmia/microphthalmia, etc.) (Stoll, 2000). Additional clinical features were ectrodactyly, hypogonadism, ectodermal and musculoskeletal anomalies, hearing, and mental impairment (Bartzela et al., 2017).

In an Australian population, 31% of children with CL/P and 61% with CPO had associated congenital anomalies, which is higher than the previously presented data (Dentici et al., 2015).

In the Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Unit of the Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, from 149 patients with a complete BCLP (cBCLP), we included available data of 133 patients. Thirty-one patients (23%) had a single additional malformation, and 33 patients (25%) had several other congenital anomalies (Kouwenberg M, 2010). According to the data of the NVSCA (Dutch Association for cleft palate and craniofacial anomalies), of the 3512 patients included, 23% of them had associated congenital anomalies. Among them, 10% had associated malformations. Forty different malformations were identified only in the craniofacial and neck area, 68% in the mandible. 13% of the malformations were observed in various organs (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011). Family members of patients with CPO had less common associated congenital anomalies than the other cleft phenotypes (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011):

#### **1.3.2 Associated syndromes**

Patients with an OFC can have an associated syndrome or a monogenic, chromosomal, or related extrinsic factors disorder (Kouwenberg M, 2010). Hence, more than 600 syndromes have been identified with CL/P (Dixon et al., 2011), of which more than 400 have been associated with CPO. 30% of patients with CL/P (Stanier and Moore, 2004) and 50% of patients with CPO are afflicted with a syndrome (Murray, 2002). Patients with CPO were diagnosed most frequently with the Pierre Robin sequence, and CL/P patients mostly with trisomy-21 or trisomy-13. In more severe cases, patients with Pierre Robin sequence (PRS) can be diagnosed with multiple congenital anomalies (PRS-plus) besides the cardinal characteristics of the PRS or other syndromes (sPRS). The etiopathogenesis of non-syndromic CLP (nsCLP) from sCLP patients has been differentiated. According to the data of the NVSCA (Dutch Association for CL/P and craniofacial anomalies), in 24% of the children with a positive family history of OFC, an associated syndrome was diagnosed (Luijsterburg and Vermeij-Keers, 2011).

The van der Woude syndrome (VWS) is the most common syndrome associated with CL/P and accounts for 2% of these patients (Bartzela et al., 2017). The second most common syndrome associated with CL/P is the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome, also known as Velocardiofacial, Shprintzen, or DiGeorge syndrome, with a prevalence of 25 – 50 /100,000 (Bartzela et al., 2017). Other common syndromes in association with CL/P are the EEC-syndrome (Ectrodactyly, ectodermal dysplasia, and cleft lip/palate syndrome), the Pierre Robin Sequence, the Kallmann and Kabuki syndrome (Bartzela et al., 2017), Apert, Oculo-Auriculo-Vertebral spectrum (Wieckowska et al., 2015). In many of these syndromes, vital functions are severely affected and considered life-threatening conditions. Patients with sPRS have an almost 10% mortality rate related to respiratory failure or neurological disorders (Logjes et al., 2018).

#### 1.4 Tooth agenesis and CL/P

Dental anomalies are a common finding in patients with CL/P; among them, tooth agenesis (TA) and supernumerary teeth have the highest prevalence (Lehtonen et al., 2015). The cleft's severity is associated with more severe tooth agenesis patterns (Bartzela et al., 2010b; Bartzela et al., 2013). Nevertheless, TA occurs not only on the affected side but also outside the cleft in the maxilla and mandible (Bartzela et al., 2013). Hypodontia is similarly prevalent in subjects with CPO independent of the family history associated with CL/P but varies widely.

Furthermore, hypodontia's prevalence is very high in syndromes associated with CL/P, such as the van der Woude syndrome and the Pierre Robin sequence. Factors possibly accounting for TA are related to embryogenic disruption or iatrogenic interventions in the cleft area (Lekkas et al., 2000). The upper lateral incisor is the most susceptible tooth to iatrogenic injury. Iatrogenic factors that might disrupt tooth formation are neonatal hard palate closure or primary bone grafting (Bartzela et al., 2013). More teeth are congenitally missing in the maxilla than the mandible. TA outside the cleft area is related to genes, and genomic loci in a possible cellular and molecular synergy (Phan et al., 2016) related to palatogenesis (van den Boogaard et al., 2000).

A recent literature review of combined phenotypes of CL/P and TA reported nine genomic loci and 26 candidate genes (Phan et al., 2016). The candidate genes reported in the literature present a different degree of evidence, and the phenotypic severity in both the CL/P and TA varies widely (Phan et al., 2016). The cleft side is more frequently affected than the non-cleft side (Bartzela et al., 2013). Co-occurrence of TA and CL/P in humans has been associated with mutations of *IRF6* or *TP63*, both in syndromic and non-syndromic forms (Kondo et al., 2002). The van der Woude syndrome (VWS), in 68% of the patients, is attributed to a variant in the *IRF6* gene (Yu et al., 2020). *MSX1* stop mutation has been identified in afflicted family members with CL/P and TA (van den Boogaard et al., 2000). Mainly, *MSX1* mutations are associated with the non-syndromic co-existence of OFCs and TA and account for the Wolf-Hirschhorn and Witkop syndromes (Liang et al., 2016). The PAX9 protein interaction with MSX1 has been associated with TA outside the cleft (Phan et al., 2016).

#### 1.5 Orthodontic considerations in patients with CL/P

The orthodontist has a challenging role in guiding dental and craniofacial development. The majority of the patients with CL/P (92.3% males and 71.5% females) have a severe form of malocclusion manifested already in the primary dentition (Bartzela et al., 2013),(Hujoel and DeRouen, 1995). Posterior crossbite and midline deviation are the most frequent occlusal findings (Hujoel and DeRouen, 1995). Additionally, several dental anomalies, including variations in dental number, shape, size, path, and eruption timing, complicate the orthodontic treatment (Bartzela et al., 2013; Rizell et al., 2020). Hypoplastic or atypical-shaped laterals are observed on the affected and non-affected sides (Bartzela et al., 2013). A delay of tooth

formation of the permanent teeth varies from 0.3 to 0.7 years in the maxilla and mandible (Ranta, 1986).

Infant orthopedics (IO) for perinatal care and, later, treatment for dental malocclusion and maxillofacial development should be encountered. IO's favorable effect on craniofacial growth has been debated over the last few years (Bongaarts et al., 2009). Crossbite correction is performed during the early mixed dentition period and before bone grafting. After the eruption of at least the first premolar, the orthodontic treatment with a multibracket appliance (MBA) can start (Bartzela, 2019). Rotated permanent maxillary incisors can be aligned earlier to eliminate premature contacts or if the aesthetics are an early consideration (Bartzela et al., 2019).

#### 1.5.1 External apical root resorption during orthodontic treatment in patients with CL/P

Patients with CL/P are usually characterized by a narrow and asymmetric maxilla, midline deviation, and soft and hard tissue deficiency along the cleft area. Special periodontal conditions, hypoplastic, missing, and malformed teeth, especially into the cleft, are common findings (Dewinter et al., 2003). Furthermore, patients with CL/P have additional predisposing factors indicating a higher incidence of external apical root resorption (EARR).

Patient's intrinsic factors predisposing to EARR can be trauma (Malmgren et al., 1982) or preexisting root resorption (Massler and Malone, 1954; Brezniak and Wasserstein, 1993), or abnormal root ending (Kjær, 1995; Sameshima and Sinclair, 2001; Al-Qawasmi et al., 2003; Nanekrungsan et al., 2012a). Incompletely developed teeth (Rosenberg, 1972) or endodontically treated (Spurrier et al., 1990) have a protective effect over EARR. Orthodontic techniques (standard edgewise vs. straight-wire (Mavragani et al., 2000) or aligner vs. MBA (Iglesias-Linares et al., 2017) or even different types of brackets seem that do not affect the EARR (Pandis et al., 2008a; Leite et al., 2012; Jacobs et al., 2014; Aras et al., 2018a). Nevertheless, the use of heavy orthodontic wires (Alzahawi et al., 2014), the force magnitude (Weltman et al., 2010), treatment duration (Fox, 2005; Årtun et al., 2005), the intermaxillary elastics (Simplicio et al., 2012), and the amount of orthodontic movement (OTM) (Fox, 2005) play a role in an EARR which is of clinical significance (Bartzela et al., 2019).

#### 1.5.2 Diagnostic tools for patients with CL/P

Various diagnostic tools have been developed to evaluate the treatment outcome of dental casts of patients with CL/P. These yardsticks have been used to rate dental arch relationships (Huddart and Bodenham, 1972) and predict the maxilla's skeletal development compared to the mandible (Ozawa et al., 2011). Moreover, these yardsticks have been widely used for the treatment outcome evaluation in intercenter studies (Bartzela et al., 2010a; Bartzela et al., 2011) and as an indicator of the treatment effectiveness in intracenter assessments (Mars et al., 2006; Mars et al., 1987).

Nevertheless, traveling with plaster casts for evaluation intercenter treatment outcome studies is not always feasible. Using digital models or photographs of dental casts instead of plaster casts for the treatment outcome assessment in children with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate (cBCLP) has been proved reliable (Leenarts et al., 2012). Isolated dental arches and dental occlusion are rated in sagittal, transverse, and vertical dimensions. The anteroposterior relationship is significant because it is a predictor of the treatment need. Dental compensations are also taken into consideration (Ozawa et al., 2011).

The yardstick for assessing the plaster models in patients with BCLP has a five-grade scale. The evaluations are made in the primary, mixed, and early permanent dentition (6-, 9-, 12-years of age, respectively).

Furthermore, yardsticks have been developed to evaluate the nasolabial appearance (Asher-McDade et al., 1992). Photographs of patients with CL/P are evaluated in different views (frontal, profile, and worm's eye) separately. The following landmarks are assessed for the red of the lip, the length of the upper lip, and the columella, the shape of the nose's tip. A final rating of the nasolabial appearance for children with CL/P occurred at 6-, 9-, and 12-years, as previously mentioned for the dental casts.

#### 1.6 Objectives of the thesis

This retrospective intercenter study was based on patient data collected from three European cleft centers (Radboudumc, Nijmegen, the Netherlands; Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Campus Mitte, Germany).

Patients with CL/P present a broad spectrum of phenotypic variability and need long, interdisciplinary treatment. Multidisciplinary interaction, early diagnosis, and therapeutic

guidance of patients with CL/P, with or without associated malformations or syndromes, is challenging.

This thesis's primary goal is to present the clinical phenotypes, focusing mainly on these patients' craniofacial and dental structures. Furthermore, to provide an overview of the interdisciplinary team's comprehensive treatment approach, focusing on the craniofacial and dental structures. Moreover, to enhance the involved team members' communication to implement individualized, integrated, and long-term treatment pathways (Bartzela, 2019).

Therefore, the aim of this thesis was to identify factors that may influence the final treatment outcome through this cross-sectional and longitudinal evaluation of dental arches and craniofacial morphology.

The specific aims of the study were to present:

- The incidence of patients with CL/P and their distribution according to the cleft type, laterality, and sex
- The prevalence of associated anomalies or syndromes in patients with CL/P in two different University clinics
- The family history and the pedigrees of these patients and associated with the condition
- Tooth agenesis patterns and their prevalence in patients with complete unilateral cleft lip and palate (cUCLP)
- The reliability of using digital models or photographs of dental casts as an alternative to plaster casts for rating dental arch relationships in children with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate (cBCLP).
- The incidence of external apical root resorption (EARR) in the anterior maxillary teeth of patients with cUCLP during orthodontic treatment and to evaluate the variable that may influence the development of EARR.

Due to the low incidence of cBCLP compared to the rest of the cleft population, published literature on cBCLP is scarce (Kouwenberg et al., 2011). Hence, our knowledge of treatment outcomes in patients with cBCLP is somewhat limited. Relatively few longitudinal studies on BCLP in general and on dental arch dimensions and relationships, and craniofacial morphology have been published.

Comparing treatment outcomes between cleft centers could elucidate the importance of factors like ethnic characteristics and specific treatment interventions and give the team an insight into the effectiveness of their treatment. Following patient samples longitudinally may

provide important information regarding the impact of different treatment approaches on craniofacial growth and dental arch development. Retrospective studies (Bartzela et al., 2021; Kouwenberg et al., 2011) are subjected to selection, exposure, and outcome assessment biases. The studies presented, though, are based on a long-term, meticulously collected database from interdisciplinary teams.

# 2.1 [Associated congenital malformations in patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate]

Kouwenberg M., Draaisma J.M., Kuijpers-Jagtman A.M., Bartzela T.

*Tijdschrift voor kindergeneeskunde* 2011;78:13-17 DOI: 10.1007/s12456-010-0004-5

#### Summary

Orofacial clefts can be associated with a syndrome (of known or suspected pathogenesis or etiology) or a chromosomal, monogenic, or disorder triggered by exogenous factors. Associated congenital anomalies and syndromes have been reported more often in children with bilateral cleft lip and palate (BCLP) than in other types of orofacial clefts. The reported incidence varies from 7.5 to 63.4% (6, 7). Nevertheless, data on syndromes in this group of patients are rare. We present a retrospective study on the incidence of other congenital anomalies and syndromes in patients with complete BCLP (cBCLP).

This retrospective study aimed to describe the incidences of congenital anomalies and associated syndromes in children with BCLP treated by Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre's cleft team (Nijmegen, the Netherlands).

*Patients and Methods:* All patients with cBCLP treated by the cleft team of Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, born before the 1<sup>st</sup> of January of 2003, were included in this retrospective study. A clinical geneticist examined all these children when they were six months of age. If necessary, genetic (chromosomal or DNA examination) and/or metabolic analysis were performed, depending on the patient. All patients were examined again for associated malformations or syndromes when they were three years old and were followed up by the cleft team. All patients with cBCLP and congenital anomalies, syndromes, or chromosomal deviations were included in the study. These patients' reported congenital anomalies were classified according to their origin as the cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, urogenital, central nervous system, vertebral column, extremities, facial, ear, and eye. Furthermore, syndromes and other congenital anomalies were registered.

*Results:* Finally, 133 of these children with cBCLP were included in our study. Sixty-four (48%) out of the 133 patients with cBCLP had a congenital malformation reported before the children were three years old. Sixty-nine of these patients (52%) had no congenital malformation. Seventeen (26%) of these patients were females. The most common congenital malformations reported were in the heart (8.3% out of 133), urogenital system (10.5%),

extremities (9.0%), and other anomalies (12.8%). In 19 patients, associate malformations have been diagnosed when the children were older than three years of age. These anomalies were mainly dental (deviations in size, shape, or agenesis). In only one child older than three years of age, congenital anomalies were diagnosed besides dental developmental abnormalities. This patient was diagnosed with ectropion of the eyelid, ear tube atresia, and developmental retardation. In 12 out of the 133 patients (9%), a syndrome was diagnosed.

Moreover, a syndrome was suspected in three other children, but no further information or follow-up data were provided. Seven (58%) of the 12 children with a syndrome were females. The female predominance of patients with BCLP and an associated syndrome, in comparison to males, was significant (p = 0.005). Fifteen of the children with multiple congenital anomalies had most probably a suspected syndrome that was not identified. Twelve out of 33 (36.4%) of these children with various congenital anomalies were diagnosed with a syndrome. Nine of the children with a syndrome had multiple congenital anomalies.

*Conclusions:* Children with a cBCLP often have other associated congenital malformations. Specific syndromes have also been diagnosed in 9% (out of 133) of this group of children. Therefore, pediatricians should give particular attention to this group of children for associated congenital malformations or syndromes.

Note: This publication has been translated into English by Dr. Dr. T. Bartzela for this habilitation thesis (pages: 23-30).

Tijdschrift voor kindergeneeskunde (2011) 78:13–17 DOI 10.1007/BF0355553

#### ARTIKELEN

# 2.1 [Associated congenital malformations in patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate]

Kouwenberg M., Draaisma J.M., Kuijpers-Jagtman A.M., Bartzela T. *Tijdschrift voor kindergeneeskunde* 2011;78:13-17 **Translated in English for this thesis by Dr. Dr. Bartzela** 

#### Abstract

*Introduction:* In patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate (BCLP), other congenital anomalies are frequently reported. Data on syndromes in this group of patients are rare. We present a retrospective study on the incidence of other congenital anomalies and syndromes in patients with complete BCLP.

*Design, setting, and patients:* Data on other congenital anomalies and syndromes (reported from birth till three years of age) were collected from records of patients born before 2003, treated in the Cleft Lip and Palate Centre of the Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands.

*Results:* Of the records of 149 patients with complete BCLP, the data of 133 of them were included in this study. Thirty-one patients (23%) had a single additional anomaly, and 33 (25%) had several other abnormalities. The most frequently reported anomalies were of cardiac (8.3%), urogenital origin (10.5%), abnormalities of the extremities (9.0%), and the face (14.3%). In 12 patients (9.0%), a syndrome (i.e., chromosomal etiology) was diagnosed. In three other patients, a syndrome was suspected. Seven of the 12 patients diagnosed with a syndrome were females (p = 0.05).

*Discussion:* Our results are consistent with previously reported data on associated congenital anomalies in patients with BCLP. Very little data is present on syndromes in patients with complete BCLP. We cannot adequately compare our data with those of previous studies. Female predominance in syndromes has not been reported before.

*Conclusion:* In patients with complete BCLP, other congenital anomalies are frequently observed. In these patients, pediatricians should also be alerted for the co-occurrence of a syndrome.

#### Introduction

Unilateral (UCLP) or bilateral (BCLP) cleft lip and palate is the most common congenital orofacial malformation. In the Netherlands, 2.03 out of 1,000 children are born with an orofacial cleft (1). The reported incidence varied in different European countries from 0.91 to 2.69 per 1000 births (calculated in live or stillborn infants). (2) The incidence of children with BCLP is about 0.2 per 1,000 live births. (3) It is twice as frequent in males than in females (4, 5).

Associated congenital anomalies have been reported more often in children with BCLP than in other types of orofacial clefts or the general population. The reported incidence varies from 7.5 to 63.4% (6, 7). The most common congenital anomalies in children with BCLP are cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, urogenital, in the skeleton (most common in vertebral column), extremities (7), ears, and eyes (7, 10, 11).

Patients with cleft lip and palate suffer more congenital anomalies (25-28%) than patients with isolated cleft palate (22%) or with cleft lip (8-10.2%) (3, 8).

Milerad *et al.* reported in their study associated congenital malformations in 35% of patients with BCLP and 24% in patients with UCLP (3). In a prenatal sonographic diagnosis in fetuses with an orofacial cleft, the associated anomalies were more frequent in fetuses with bilateral clefts (72%) than in those with unilateral clefts (48%) (9).

Orofacial clefts can be associated with a syndrome (of known or suspected pathogenesis or etiology) or a chromosomal, monogenic, or exogenous factors disorder. Reported associated syndromes in patients with a cleft are about 5.4-12.6%. The most common associated syndromes in infants with an orofacial cleft are trisomy 13, 18, and 21 and the van der Woude syndrome (3, 8). Publications on patients with BCLP and associated malformations are rare. Lilius reported an incidence of 4.4% associated syndromes of chromosomal etiology in 113 children with BCLP (10).

This retrospective study aimed to describe the incidences of congenital anomalies and associated syndromes in children with BCLP, treated by Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre's cleft team (Nijmegen, the Netherlands). These findings have been compared with relevant published data.

#### **Patients and Methods**

All patients with complete BCLP (cBCLP) treated by the cleft team of Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands, born before the 1<sup>st</sup> of January 2003, were included in this retrospective study. A clinical evaluation was made when the patients were three years old, and the interdisciplinary team followed them up. A geneticist examined all these children when they were six months of age, and if necessary, the children were followed up. Genetic analysis was performed (chromosomal or DNA examination). Evaluation of the patient's metabolism and/or radiographic examination was considered depending on the patient. All patients with cBCLP and congenital anomalies, syndromes, or chromosomal deviations were included in the study. These patients' congenital anomalies were classified according to their origin to the cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, urogenital, central nervous system, vertebral column, extremities, facial, ear, and eye. Furthermore, developmental deviations, syndromes, and other congenital anomalies were also included.

SPSS 12.0.1. was used for the statistical analysis. Fisher Exact test was used for male and female predominance with cBCLP and associated anomalies.

The statistical significance was determined at  $p \le 0.05$ .

#### Results

Children with cBCLP were included in this study. The initial group of patients consisted of 149 children. Data were missing in 16 of these children; therefore, they were excluded from the study. Finally, 133 of these children with cBCLP were included in our study. Forty-one (31%) were females, and 92 (69%) were males. Sixty-four (48%) out of the 133 patients with cBCLP had a congenital malformation reported before the children were three years old.

Sixty-nine of these patients (52%) had no congenital malformation. Seventeen (26%) of these patients were females. The most common congenital malformations reported were in the heart (8.3% out of 133), urogenital system (10.5%), extremities (9.0%), and other organs (12.8%). All reported congenital deviations are presented in Table 1. In 19 patients have been reported, anomalies were diagnosed when the children were older than three years of age. These anomalies were mainly dental (tooth agenesis or tooth shape deviations). In only one child older than three years, congenital anomalies were diagnosed besides dental abnormalities. This patient was diagnosed with ectropion of the eyelid, ear tube atresia, and developmental retardation. In 12 out of the 133 patients (9%), a syndrome was diagnosed.

Moreover, a syndrome was suspected in three other children, but no further information or follow-up data was provided. Seven (58%) of the 12 children with a syndrome were females. Compared to males in patients with BCLP and an associated syndrome, the female predominance was significant (p = 0.005). Fifteen of the children with multiple congenital anomalies had most probably a suspected syndrome that was not identified. Twelve out of 33 (36.4%) of these children with multiple congenital anomalies were diagnosed with a syndrome. Nine of the children with a syndrome had multiple congenital anomalies. The diagnosed syndromes of these children with cBCLP are presented in Table 2.

#### Discussion

In this retrospective study, we evaluated the congenital deviations of children with cBCLP. We reported the congenital malformations of these children followed for the first three years of their life. We decided to evaluate the diagnosed congenital malformations of cBCLP patients, the first three years of their lives. According to previously published data, most congenital malformations were diagnosed until the first three years of patients' lives (12). Even though the patients were followed up until the fourth year, only 2-3% additional children were diagnosed with a congenital malformation (12). After 12 years of follow-up, only an extra 5% of these patients were diagnosed with a congenital malformation, which was not diagnosed in their first three years of life (12).

In total, 64 (48%) of these patients were diagnosed with congenital malformation. The most common congenital malformations diagnosed were mainly on the face, extremities, urogenital and cardiovascular system. Our results agree with previously published data by Lilius (10) (presented in Table 3). Compared with our study group of patients, 35% of the children had congenital malformations (3). The follow-up period, though, was longer than in our group (3). Children with BCLP had congenital malformations in the head, neck, face, and extremities (7, 10). Vertebral column malformations have been reported in 16.3% of another group of patients with BCLP (11). Congenital heart malformations have been registered in 12.5% of children with BCLP (13). Our study is the first to report developmental deviations (dysmaturity and failure to thrive, in total 12.8%) and cervical vertebral malformations in children with BCLP.

An orofacial cleft is more often in males than females (male/female ratio 1.2). In our study, male patients with cBCLP are predominant than females (male/female ratio 2.2). Our results follow previously published data in patients with BCLP, where the male/female ratio

was about 2.1-2.2 (4, 5). Roughly a male/female ratio in patients with BCLP with a syndrome or chromosomal disorder has not been reported in the scientific literature. In this group of patients, we found associated congenital anomalies or syndromes in the male/female ratio of 0.71 (p-value=0.05). More studies are required to evaluate the prevalence of (specific) syndromes or chromosomal anomalies and the sex predisposition in patients with BCLP. The increased incidence of multiple congenital anomalies in patients with BCLP points to a critical medical examination in the first three years of patients' lives should be considered.

From an embryological perspective, the neural plate and neural crest cells play a pivotal role in forming the orofacial cleft (14). The branchial arches, which appear on the 4<sup>th</sup> week of gestation, fuse in the midline on the 7<sup>th</sup> week, and they form the face, which consists of neural crest cells and mesoderm. The neural crest is differentiated earlier in embryogenesis in comparison to the neural plate. It plays a pivotal role in the development of many structures, such as the heart, the middle ear, the connective tissue around the eye, the iris and the pupils, the skin, the adrenal medulla, several cranial nerves, and the celiac ganglia. Anomalies of neural crest cell differentiation can lead to a broad spectrum of malformations. Neural crest cell dysfunction may lead to orofacial cleft formation, congenital heart anomalies (15), Hirschsprung's disease (16), developmental disorders of the middle ear (17), abnormal pigmentation of the skin (18), tooth malformations, and colobomata (19, 20). The middle and more cranial part of the face is from the neural crest cells. Developmental deviations of neural crest cells are responsible for facial deformations (21) but neither for the extremities nor the urogenital, kidneys, airway (positional) deviations, and the abdominal wall.

Almost 9% of the children in this study had a syndrome. In a retrospective study presented by Lilius, 5 out of 113 (4.4%) patients with BCLP had a chromosomal anomaly. Lilius's study showed data collected through birth certificates, mothers' reports post-partum, and all the data available on the records of the cleft team of Finland. There were available records of an 11-year follow-up of these patients (10). Associated chromosomal disorders and syndromes have been reported more often in children with cleft lip or palate or unilateral cleft lip and palate (10). In the study of Stoll *et al.*, 11% of their patients with orofacial cleft had an associated syndrome or a chromosomal disorder (8). The most common associated syndrome was trisomy 13, observed in 2.4% of their patients (8). Milerad *et al.* reported in their prospective study a syndrome or chromosomal deviation in 5.4% of their patients with an orofacial cleft. In this study, van der Woude syndrome was the most commonly observed, with

an incident of 0.6% (3). In a retrospective database in Hungary, where only live births were included, 1% of patients with orofacial cleft had an associated syndrome or chromosomal anomaly. Trisomy 13 was the syndrome most often observed (22). The increased incidence of reported syndromes or associated malformations in children with BCLP of this study compared to other studies might be because new diagnostic tools became available during the years. Additionally, the awareness of associated anomalies in children with CLP in contrast to the general population increased.

This study is a retrospective study; therefore, there is a specific limitation. Specific congenital malformations of these patients may not have been registered. Therefore, the actual incidence of congenital malformation in this group of patients may be higher. In this study, we present congenital malformations, which have been registered for the first three years of the life of patients with cBCLP. The incidence of the associated congenital malformations presented may be underestimated.

#### Conclusions

Children with a cBCLP often have other associated congenital malformations. Specific syndromes have also been diagnosed in 9% (out of 133) of this group of children. Therefore, pediatricians should pay particular attention to this group of children for associated congenital malformations or syndromes.

#### References

- Verheij JBGM, Edens M, Cornel MC *et al*. Incidentie en prevalentie van genetisch bepaalde aandoeningen in Nederland; een literatuurstudie. Nederlands tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde 1994;138:71-7.
- 2. Vanderas AP. Prevalence of craniomandibular dysfunction in children and adolescents: a review. Pediatr Dent 1987;9:312-6.
- 3. Milerad J, Larson O, Hagberg C, *et al.* Associated malformations in infants with cleft lip and palate: A prospective, population-based study. Pediatrics, 1997;100:180-6.
- Magdalenić-Meštrović M, Bagatin M. An epidemiological study of orofacial clefts in Croatia 1988–1998. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2005;33:85–90.
- 5. Al Omari F, Orth M, Al-Omari IK, *et al.* Cleft lip and palate in Jordan: birth prevalence rate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2004;41:609-12.

- 6. Greene JC, Vermilion JR, Hay S, *et al.* Epidemiologic study of cleft lip and palate in four states. J Am Dent Assoc 1964;68:387-404.
- 7. Shprintzen RJ, Siegel-Sadewitz VL, Amato J *et al*. Anomalies associated with cleft lip, cleft palate, or both. Am J Med Genet 1985;20:585-95.
- Stoll C, Alembik Y, Dott B *et al.* Associated malformations in cases with oral clefts. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2000;37:41-7.
- Bergé SJ, Plath H, Van de Vondel PT, *et al.*. Fetal cleft lip and palate: sonographic diagnosis, chromosomal abnormalities, associated anomalies, and postnatal outcome in 70 fetuses. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2001;18:422-38.
- Lilius DP. Clefts associated anomalies and syndromes in Finland. Scan J Reconstr Hand Surg 1992;26:185-96.
- 11. Ugar DA, Semb G. The prevalence of anomalies of the upper cervical vertebrae in subjects with cleft lip, cleft palate, or both. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2001;38:498-503.
- Van der Veen FJC, van Hagen JM, Berkhof J *et al.* Regional underreporting associated congenital anomalies in cleft patients in the Netherlands. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2006;43:710-4.
- Geis N, Seto BH, Bertoshesky L *et al*. The prevalence of CHD among the population of a metropolitan cleft lip and palate clinic. Cleft Palate J 1981;18:12-23.
- 14. Sieber-Blum M, Zhang Z. The neural crest and neural crest defects. Biomed Rev 2002;13:29-37.
- Kirby ML, Waldo KL. Role of neural crest in congenital heart disease. Circ 1990;82:332-40. Farlie PG, McKeown SJ, Newgreen DF. The Neural Crest: Basic biology and clinical relationships in the craniofacial and enteric nervous systems. Birth Defects Research (Part C) 2004;72:173–89.
- Mallo M. Formation of the middle ear: recent progress on the developmental and molecular mechanisms. Dev Biol. 2001;231:410-9.
- 17. Vancoillie G, Lambert J, Nayaert JM. Melanocyte biology and its implications for the clinician. Eur J Dermatol 1999;9:241-51.
- Fukumoto S, Yamada Y. Extracellular matrix regulates tooth morphogenesis. Connect Tiss Res 2005;46:220-26.
- 19. Ozeki H, Shirai S, Nozaki M *et al.* Maldevelopment of neural crest cells in patients with typical uveal coloboma. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1999;36:337-41.

- 20. Helms JA, Cordero D, Tapadia MD. New insights into craniofacial morphogenesis. Development 2005;132:851-61.
- 21. Sárközi A, Wyszynski DF, Czeizel AE. Oral clefts with associated anomalies: findings in the Hungarian congenital abnormality registry. BMC Oral Health 2005;5:4.

Congenital malf	ormation	s diagnosed during the three years of follow up	Number of patients (n=)	Percentage (n/133)
			44	33.1%
Heart	Total		11	8.3%
		Ventricular septal defect	4	3.0%
		Aortic coarctation	3	2.3%
		Atrium septum defect type I and persistent ductus arteriosus	2	1.5%
		Tetralogy of Fallot	2	1.5%
Respiratory	Total		2	1.5%
system		Laryngomalacia	1	0.8%
		Tracheoesophageal fistula	1	0.8%
Gastrointestinal	Total		2	1.5%
Urogenital	Total		14	10.5%
8		Cryptorchidism	7	5.3%
		Other abnormalities of male genitalia	4	3.0%
Central nervous	Total	8	5	3.8%
system		Semilobar holoprosencephaly, hypophyseal dysfunction	1	0.8%
		Cerebellum and vermis hypoplasia	1	0.8%
		Tetraventricular hydrocephalus, cisterna magna cysts	1	0.8%
		Agenesis of the corpus callosum, diabetes insipidus	1	0.8%
		Atrophy of the frontal brain lobe (cerebrum)	1	0.8%
Skin disorders	Total		3	2.3%
		Scalp, hair, and hypoplastic nipples	1	0.8%
Extremities	Total		12	9.0%
		Deformations / digital agenesis	9	6.8%
Developmental	Total		7	5.3%
disorders		Psychomotor retardation	7	5.3%
Facial	Total		19	14.3%
		Hypertelorism	6	4.5%
		Shape deviation / big skull	4	3.0%
		Other deviations not described	5	3.8%
		Micrognathia / retrognatia	3	2.3%
Neck, nose, ear,	Total		8	6.0%
and eyes		Coloboma	5	3.8%
Other	Total		17	12.8%
Dental	Total		2	1.5%
		Tooth agenesis		0.8%
		Tooth shape deviations	1	0.8%

**Table 1.** Congenital malformations diagnosed in 133 children with complete bilateral

 cleft lip and palate

Syndrome	Number of	Percentage
	patients (n=)	(n/133)
EEC syndrome	2	1.5%
Amniotic band syndrome	2	1.5%
CHARGE syndrome	2	1.5%
BBB- syndrome	1	0.8%
Down syndrome	1	0.8%
ADAM syndrome	1	0.8%
Nager syndrome	1	0.8%
13q-syndrome	1	0.8%
Brachio-oculo-facial syndrome	1	0.8%
Total	12	9.0%

BCLP:	bilateral cleft lip and palate
EEC syndrome:	"Ectodermal dysplasia, Ectrodactyly, Clefting" syndrome
CHARGE syndrome:	"Coloboma, Heart anomaly, Choanal atresia, Retardation, Genital and Ear
	anomalies" syndrome
BBB- syndrome:	the first letters of the last names of the families first diagnosed with this disorder
	(hypertelorism, oesophageal malformation, and hypospadias)
ADAM syndrome:	"Amniotic Deformity, Adhesions, Mutilations" syndrome

<b>Fable 3.</b> Results of this study in comparison to the published data of Lilius. (10)	)
---	---

Congenital malformations	Results of this study (n = 133)	Results of Lilius 1992 (n = 113)
Total prevalence	33.1%	43.4%
Heart	8.3%	15.9%
Gastro-intestinal	1.5%	8.8%
Urogenital	10.5%	8.0%
Cervical vertebra	0%	-
Central nervous system	3.8%	8.0%
Extremities	9.0%	33.6%
Developmental deviations	5.3%	8.0%
Facial	14.3%	13.3%
ENT and eye	6.0%	10.6%
Other	12.8%	0.1%
Chromosomal anomalies	9.0%	4.4%

ENT: ear, nose, and throat

#### 2.2 Tooth agenesis patterns in unilateral cleft lip and palate in humans

Bartzela TN, Carels CEL, Bronkhorst EM, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. *Arch Oral Biol.* 2013;58(6):596-602. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2012.12.007 **Summary** 

Factors possibly contributing to tooth agenesis (TA) inside or outside the cleft area are disturbances during embryogenesis and/or possible iatrogenic injuries during surgical procedures. This study described TA patterns of dentition and their prevalence in a group of complete unilateral cleft lip and palate (cUCLP) patients using a numeric coding system, the Tooth Agenesis Code (TAC).

*Design:* Panoramic radiographs of 115 non-syndromic patients (78 males and 37 females) with cUCLP (85 patients had a left-sided cleft and 30 right-sided) from the Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Unit in Nijmegen (The Netherlands) were evaluated. Third molars were excluded from the evaluation. Pre-operative records confirmed the diagnosis of cUCLP. Patients with Simonart`s band were not included (N=18). Only patients with Caucasian ethnic background were evaluated. No other obvious congenital malformations or mental retardation were associated with the cleft lip and palate (CLP). According to the center's routine procedure, at least three panoramic radiographs were available, taken around 9, 11, and 14 yrs. The treatment was performed according to the same protocol.

*Results:* Agenesis of at least one tooth was observed in 48.7% of the patients and outside the cleft in 20.9%. One to three were missing teeth per patient, whereas 51.3% had no TA. The lateral incisor of the maxillary cleft quadrant was the tooth most frequently missing (39.1%), followed by the maxillary lateral incisor (8.7%) and the mandibular second premolar (7.8%) in the non-cleft quadrants. Thirteen different TA patterns of patients with cUCLP were found in this study. Six of the identified patterns were observed in only one patient. TA was significantly higher on the cleft quadrant of the maxilla (p = 0.020). The cleft's sidedness was related to the TA. Therefore, on the right side were fewer missing teeth compared to the left (p = 0.18).

*Conclusion:* TA was observed in a higher prevalence in patients with cUCLP, inside and even outside the cleft region, compared with the non-cleft patients. Thirteen different TA patterns were observed, and six of them were unique. Maxillary and/or maxillary and mandibular second and/or first premolars were involved in all TA patterns. Both the prevalence of orofacial clefting and hypodontia are more frequently observed on the left side.

Tooth agenesis patterns in unilateral cleft lip and palate in humans

### **2.3** Apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment in patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate

Bartzela TN, Mang de la Rosa MR, Wolf K, Schmidt A, Opitz C. *Clin Oral Investig*. 2020;24(5):1807-1819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-03044-2

#### Summary

External apical root resorption (EARR) is a common adverse effect observed during orthodontic treatment. The high inter-individual variability that is observed indicates a multifactorial etiology. The risk factors that are responsible for the severe EARR remain unclear. Patient's age, endocrinological disorders (e.g., hypothyroidism or reduced estrogen levels, metabolic factors like prostaglandins, and nutritional deficiency (in Ca or Vitamin D) have been associated with EARR. Other factors, such as fluoride, thyroxine, steroids, and the administration of PGE2 together with thyroxine, may have a protective effect over the EARR, as has been proved in animal studies.

Patient-related intraoral predisposing factors to EARR are abnormal root morphology, and dental trauma, especially in association with preexisting EARR. Contrarily, endodontically treated teeth and teeth with incomplete root formation develop less commonly EARR.

The orthodontist has a challenging role in patients with craniofacial anomalies, such as cleft lip and palate (CLP). Patients with complete unilateral cleft and palate (cUCLP) usually need a complicated and long-lasting orthodontic treatment due to the constricted and asymmetric maxillary arches, deviated premaxilla, and bone and soft tissue deficiency in the cleft area. Often the teeth located in the cleft's vicinity are impacted, ectopic, missing, or rotated. Therefore, it is crucial to evaluate the incidence and predisposing factors that lead to EARRs in these patients.

This retrospective longitudinal study aimed to evaluate the incidence of EARR in the anterior teeth on the affected and non-affected sides of patients with cUCLP. Furthermore, to estimate to what degree patients' and treatment variables during the orthodontic treatment influence the development of EARR in these teeth.

*Material and Methods:* In this study, orthopantomograms (OPGs) of forty-one patients with cUCLP taken before (T2) treatment with multibracket orthodontic appliances (MBA) and

periapical radiographs (PAs) of the anterior maxillary teeth taken at the end (T3) of orthodontic treatment were assessed for EARR.

*Results:* At T3, the incidence of EARR was considerably higher (97.6%) than at T2 (51.2%). EARRs preexisting before the orthodontic treatment and abnormal root morphology are considered predisposing factors. Central incisors and canines on the cleft side have a significantly higher score of EARR (p < 0.01, p < 0.05, respectively) compared to the teeth on the non-cleft side.

*Conclusions:* Patients with cUCLP treated with MBA during the orthodontic treatment have a higher incidence of EARR on the maxillary central incisors of the cleft side. Severe EARR is relatively rare.

*Clinical relevance:* Most patients with CLP need a challenging and long-term orthodontic treatment with an MBA. Therefore, it is essential to identify the predisposing factors related to the teeth' particular anatomical features and the bone adjacent to the cleft area. Abnormal root morphology was not among the risk factors for EARRs. The EARRs during orthodontic treatment are mostly less than two millimeters and therefore are of no clinical relevance.

## 2.4 Photographs of dental casts or digital models: Rating dental arch relationships in bilateral cleft lip and palate

Leenarts CMR, Bartzela TN, Bronkhorst EM, et al.

Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;41(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom.2011.11.004

#### Summary

Yardsticks have been developed to evaluate dental arch relations in patients with CLP, representing a proxy of the underlying skeletal structures. The use of plaster casts for intercenter studies is complicated because of the difficulty of carrying them to other centers. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the reliability of using digital models or photographs of dental casts alternatively to plaster casts for assessing dental arch relationships in children with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate (cBCLP).

Plaster dental casts, digital models (3D scans), and photographs of twenty children (n=20) with cBCLP were evaluated. All three record formats were available at 6, 9, and 12 years of age. Patients with syndromes or Simonart's bands were excluded from the study. Four observers scored the casts and pictures using the BCLP yardstick. The interrater weighted kappa scores were from 0.672 to 0.934. No significant differences in the BCLP yardstick scores were observed between the three forms. The observers' intra-rater weighted kappa for the three different formats was between 0.692 and 0.885. It is concluded that digital models and photographs of dental casts can be used for rating dental arch relationships in patients with cBCLP.

These formats are a reliable alternative for BCLP yardstick assessments on conventional plaster casts. The photographs and digital models can replace the plaster models for the rating of the dental arch relationship in patients with cBCLP with the use of the BCLP yardstick at the age of 6 (range 5.0 to 6.6), 9 (range: 7.11 to 10.1), and 12 years (range 10.10 to 13.8). The overjet and crossbites were more difficult to be assessed in photographs than in dental casts or digital models. This difficulty, though, did not affect the final scoring outcome. It was found that the plaster models were rated roughly 0.1 higher than the two other formats.

The statistical analysis on the reproducibility of the three methods was found to be satisfactory. Therefore, it can be concluded that intercenter treatment outcome comparisons of patients with CLP can be performed via data transfer through CD or e-mails, making such studies easier to conduct.

# 2.5 Clinical characterization of 266 patients and family members with cleft lip and/or palate with associated malformations and syndromes

Bartzela T, Theuerkauf B, Reichardt E, Spielmann M, Opitz C

Clinical Oral Investigations https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-021-03863-2

#### Summary

Orofacial clefts (OFC) have a significant medical and social impact on the affected individuals and their families. The family recurrence of nsCL/P varies depending on the type and severity of the cleft. However, almost 70% of the OFC are nonsyndromic (nsCL/P), and 30% are associated with a syndrome or congenital malformations. Syndromic CL/P (sCL/P) and nsCL/P patients have distinct etiopathogenesis. The severity of cleft is playing a role in the association with a malformation or syndrome.

Consequently, patients with bilateral CL/P (BCL/P) are more frequently affected by congenital malformations or syndromes. Patients with cleft palate only (CPO) are more often associated with a syndrome. Almost 600 syndromes are related to OFC, and 400 have been associated with CPO.

*Objectives:* To identify the clinical phenotypes of patients and family members with Cleft Lip and/or Palate (CL/P) and associated congenital malformations or syndromes and suggest a possible mode of inheritance.

*Materials and Methods:* In a retrospective observational study, patients with CL/P and their family members have been examined intra- and extra-orally. Their medical and family history was registered.

*Results:* In total, 266 index patients, 1,257 family members, and 43 pedigrees were investigated. According to the cleft type, the patients' allocation was: 57.9% with CLP, 25.2% with cleft palate (CPO), and 12.8% with cleft lip with/without alveolus (CL/A). Almost one-third of the patients (in total, 74) had an associated malformation, and 24 (9.2%) had a syndrome. The skeletal and cardiovascular malformations were the most commonly observed. Pierre Robin sequence and van der Woude syndrome were the most common syndromes associated with a cleft. In most of the syndromes (19/24), the cleft phenotype was the CPO. An average of 2.45 affected members were registered.

*Conclusion:* The etiopathogenesis of CL/P is challenging to be unraveled because of the phenotypic variability among individuals and family members.

*Clinical relevance:* The overall prevalence of patients with CL/P and their family members with an associated malformation or syndrome points out the need for interdisciplinary treatment, early diagnosis, and long-term planning. A particular mode of inheritance could not be identified in these pedigrees. A further molecular investigation is required to elucidate the etiopathogenesis of these phenotypes.

#### **3. Discussion**

### **3.1 Results of the studies**

## **3.1.1** [Associated congenital malformations in patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate]

Data were collected from patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate (cBCLP) born before 2003. The patients were treated from birth in the cleft center of the Radboud University of Nijmegen. Patients' associated anomalies and syndromes were registered. The first documentation for associated malformations and syndromes was performed when the children were three years of age. The patients were followed up for complications or additional congenital malformations during their follow-up visits to the center.

We reported the congenital malformations of patients with cBCLP during the first three years of their life. According to the Dutch registry, most congenital malformations have been diagnosed until the third year of patients' life (Rozendaal et al., 2012). An additional 2-3 % of malformations were diagnosed at four years of age (van der Veen et al., 2006). Moreover, at the age of 12, an extra 5% of these patients were diagnosed with an associated malformation (van der Veen et al., 2006).

In our study with cBCLP, 64 (48%) were diagnosed with an associated malformation (Kouwenberg et al., 2010). Mainly, the malformations diagnosed were on the face, extremities, urogenital and cardiovascular systems. These findings are in mind with other studies (Lilius, 1992). Patients with CPO have more often associated with malformations (46.7%) than the different types of clefts (CLP: 36.8% and CLO: 13.6%) (Stoll, 2000).

For the first time, our study reported dysmaturity and failure to thrive (in 12.8% of these patients) and cervical vertebral malformations in patients with BCLP (Kouwenberg et al., 2010).

Furthermore, more males with cBCLP were observed in this group of patients than females (male/female ratio 2.2), following previously published data (Al Omari and Al-Omari, 2004). Nevertheless, the sex predisposition in patients with BCLP with an associated syndrome or chromosomal disorder is presented for the first time. In these patients, a predominance of females has been observed. The male/female ratio in patients with cBCLP with associated

congenital anomalies or syndromes was 0.71 (p = 0.05). Additionally, more data are required to elucidate sex preference in patients with BCLP and associated anomalies and syndromes. This study's results have pointed to an increased incidence of multiple congenital anomalies in patients with BCLP. Therefore, the cleft team should conduct a critical medical assessment, especially for patients with BCLP.

In this study, 9% (12 out of 133) of the children had an associated syndrome. In other studies, 5.4% of the patients reported a syndrome or chromosomal anomalies (Milerad et al., 1997). The most common syndrome registered in patients with OFC was trisomy 13, with a prevalence of 2.4% (Stoll, 2000), which other authors also reported (Sárközi et al., 2005).

Another study reported that van der Woude syndrome is the most common syndrome observed in patients with CLP, with an incidence of 0.6% (Milerad et al., 1997). The incidence of associated syndromes or malformations in children with BCLP presented in this study, compared to other investigations, is most probably related to the increasing awareness over the years and modern diagnostic tools enable the early identification and improved prognosis of these children (Bartzela, 2019).

### 3.1.2 Tooth agenesis patterns in patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate in humans

The tooth agenesis (TA) patterns in patients with complete unilateral cleft lip and palate (cUCLP) treated from birth in Radboud university medical center (Radboudumc), Nijmegen, the Netherlands, were evaluated. A numeric code, the Tooth Agenesis Code (TAC), was used to present TA patterns of permanent dentition (van Wijk and Tan, 2006). TA is a common finding of OFC patients and may be associated with developmental defects during embryogenesis and surgical procedure in the cleft region (Lekkas et al., 2000). TA is more frequently observed in the maxilla (Hellquist et al., 1979), especially in the union of the median nasal and the maxillary processes, resulting in agenesis of the lateral incisors (Hovorakova et al., 2006). The maxillary or/and mandibular premolars were identified in all agenesis patterns of this study. The most common symmetric TA patterns were the maxillary lateral incisors (5.2%) and the mandibular second premolars (0.9%) (Ranta, 1986). In a big cohort of patients with cBCLP, the lateral incisors in the cleft quadrant and the maxillary and mandibular second premolars were the most commonly missing teeth (Bartzela et al., 2010b). Almost 50% of the patients included in this study had at least one missing tooth (Bartzela et al., 2013). The TA outside the cleft area in cUCLP varies from 27–28% (Brattstrom et al., 1989; Dewinter et al.,

2003) to 48.8% (Ranta, 1986). In this cUCLP cohort, only 19.1% of the patients had TA outside the cleft area. The high variability of TA patterns outside the cleft area could be ascribed to ethnic and genetic diversity.

TA in areas outside the cleft accentuates a common genetic pathway of tooth development and palatogenesis (Eerens et al., 2001).

Studies on siblings and parents of patients with CL/P indicate a higher prevalence of TA than in non-affected individuals (Howe et al., 2015). Studies on twins and family members underline the contribution of shared environmental and genetic factors (Mansilla et al., 2005).

Patients with a cleft on the right side were less affected by TA than patients with a left-sided cleft. The cleft-sidedness and TA have been observed in patients with syndromes and associated congenital affected organs on the left side, like congenital heart defects. Occulo-facio-cardio-dental (OFCD) syndrome is associated with pathogenic variants of the *BCOR*-gene. The *BCOR*-gene contributes to morphogenic organ development by defining the sidedness patterning (Hilton et al., 2007; Hilton et al., 2009). If a correlation between TA, cleft-sidedness, and heart defects is identified, we may gain insight into the left-sided clefting etiology.

# **3.1.3** Apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment in patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate

External apical root resorption (EARR) is a common side-effect of orthodontic treatment. The maxillary incisors have been indicated as the most affected teeth (Barros et al., 2017). In this study, we examined if the anterior teeth of patients with cUCLP have a higher risk of developing EARRs on the cleft side during an orthodontic treatment than the contralateral, non-affected side. Moreover, to evaluate the effect of different factors related to the multibracket (MBA) orthodontic treatment in developing EARRs in these teeth.

Rigid inclusion criteria were used to control follow-up bias and factors that may affect the study's outcome. Teeth with incomplete root formation or size and shape deviation were excluded from the evaluation. The laterals and canines, especially on the cleft side, were the teeth included. Nevertheless, a significant sample size (n = 80) of the central incisors on the cleft and non-cleft sides has been evaluated.

The incidence of patients with EARR in this study was 97.6%. The central incisors (80.0%) and the lateral (69.9%) were the most frequently afflicted teeth. Most of the evaluated teeth (88.1

%) had a resorption score of no clinical relevance (score 1 or 2) (Roscoe et al., 2015). Only 1% of the teeth had an EARR of clinical significance (score 4). The EARR of low occurrence during the OT has been described in different clinical studies (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995a).

The OT duration with the MBA was not identified as a factor predisposing EARR in this study (p = 0.515). In the scientific literature, some studies confirm that the orthodontic treatment duration is a factor predisposing to EARR (Fox, 2005; Årtun et al., 2005), while others contradict it (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b).

The maxillary lateral incisors are sensitive to developmental anomalies, leading to size and shape deviations. Therefore, these teeth are often extracted, and space is preserved for prosthodontic rehabilitation or is closed using MBA.

Teeth on the cleft side were more predisposed to EARR than the teeth on the non-cleft side, most probably because these are severely malpositioned.

The type of OTM may affect EARR. In our study, the lateral incisors' crown sagittal displacement had a significant effect on the EARR.

In other studies, though, it has been reported an association of the EARR with the total sagittal apical displacement towards the cortical bone (Baumrind et al., 1996), while other studies contradict these conclusions (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b). Increased EARR is related to the amount of root movement and not contact with the cortical bone (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b). Some studies confirm these findings, proving that the dentoalveolar bone's morphology and thickness are not factors that predispose EARR (Otis et al., 2004).

Preexisting EARRs (Jiang et al., 2010) and initial atypical root form (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b) are predisposing factors for EARR during orthodontic treatment. The preexisting EARR, as a predisposing factor, was also confirmed in this group of patients.

In our study, the use of intermaxillary elastics was not a predisposing factor for EARR. Some studies agree with our findings (Årtun et al., 2009; Motokawa et al., 2012), and others consider intermaxillary elastics as a risk factor for EARR (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b). In this group of patients, oral habits after the age of seven were not correlated to EARR. There is also a controversy in the research findings regarding an association between severe oral habits and EARR. Some researchers consider intense habits as predisposing factors (Odenrick and Brattström, 1985) while others contradict it (Nanekrungsan et al., 2012b).

# **3.1.4** Photographs of dental casts or digital models: rating dental arch relationships in bilateral cleft lip and palate patients

The BCLP yardstick is a relatively new tool for treating patients with cBCLP (Ozawa et al., 2011). This yardstick evaluates the sagittal relationship of the maxillary and mandibular dental base. This yardstick considers the relationship between the dental arches and the patients' craniofacial development (Bartzela et al., 2010a). A measurement system that has been used for dental outcomes in patients with cleft lip and palate (CLP) patients is the Huddart/Bodenham (HB) system. This system presents the sagittal and transverse relationship of the dental arches. We have compared the two scoring systems (HB-system with the BCLP yardstick) in patients with cBCLP in three different age groups (Bartzela et al., 2011). The BCLP yardstick has been used for intercenter evaluation of patients with cBCLP (Bartzela et al., 2010a).

This yardstick is a subjective tool because it represents the dental arch relationship's orthodontic management potential. Therefore, a certain degree of orthodontic experience and good calibration is required before use (Bartzela et al., 2010a).

The yardstick was assessed in different forms of dental casts, plaster, digital, and 2D photographs. The plaster casts were the reference models. The BCLP yardstick defines scores between one and five, of which one represents the best treatment outcome and five the worst.

During the evaluation session, the raters observed that it was more challenging to assess the crossbites or the overjet in photographs than in cast and digital models. However, this limitation was not entirely reflected in the scorings. The dental casts and digital models offered the added option to rotate the models in all directions, thus facilitating the assessment of anteroposterior and transverse relationships. Our findings showed that photographs and digital models could be used to evaluate dental arch relationships in patients with cBCLP with the BCLP yardstick at the age of 6, 9, and 12 years. Photographs and digital models can replace the conventional dental casts for allocating the models in a score based on the BCLP yardstick. The scores based on different formats showed only minor differences. The plaster models had approximately 0.1 higher scores. Since we do not have a gold standard, we can not say which dental arch form performs better. The statistics giving information on the reproducibility of the three formats were very comparable and of satisfactory level. However, the observer mentioned the difficulty of evaluating the patients' overjet or crossbite on the dental models' 2D photographs. This limitation, though, was not reflected in the scoring outcome. The digital model offers the option to rotate them, facilitating the final assessment.

This study showed that the plaster models could be replaced by photographs or 3D models copied in CD or online transfer for intercenter comparisons or remote clinical evaluations for CLP patients. The images could be placed on a password-protected website to fulfill the strict patients' data protection rights, permitting the clinician or rater to make the scoring from his computer. According to the "Good Practice Archives," archives should be designed for general sharing, including learning modules for new users (Nollet et al., 2004).

# **3.1.5** Clinical characterization of 266 patients and family members with cleft lip and/or palate with associated malformations and syndromes

Patients with CL/P examined at Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin between 28.01.1999 and 25.05.2000 were included in the study. Patients were routinely followed up once a year based on their day of birth. Only 50% of the patients examined in the first semester of the year accepted to participate. Nevertheless, 1257 family members and 42 pedigrees were included. The clinical characteristics of these patients and their family members are presented. The constructed pedigrees were used to determine the inheritance patterns of these patients.

In this study, patients with CLP comprise the biggest group of index patients (38.2%). 65.7% of the index patients had UCL/P (Table 1). Left-sided CL/P is the most common type of clefts, observed in 2/3 of all UCL/P patients (Yi et al., 1999). Patients with CPO (25.2 %) and BCLP (19.5%) were also registered (Table 1).

Males were more than females in CL/P groups (Table 1). Nonetheless, the incidence of patients with CPO is consistently higher in females (Matthews et al., 2007). OFC counts only for 0.4% (only one patient) in this study, which agrees with other reports (0.43-0.73%) (Watanabe et al., 2019).

The associated anomalies were related to the severity of the cleft (Group, 2011). Patients with CPO have a higher incidence of malformations compared to other types of clefts (Stoll, 2000),(Watanabe et al., 2019), which is a common finding in this study.

The individuals with BCLP are more commonly affected with malformations and syndromes than the UCL/P patients (Kouwenberg M, 2010). Females were more likely to have a severe

type of cleft and associated congenital abnormalities ranging up to 62% (Sivertsen et al., 2008a).

Following this study's finding, the skeletal system and extremities' malformations were observed in almost 1/3 of the patients (29.7%) (Lilius, 1992). Cardiovascular anomalies in patients CL/P varied from 4.3% (Jensen et al., 1988) to 63.4% (Shprintzen et al., 1985). Associated anomalies of the CNS (14.3%), the urogenital system (Stoll, 2000), and facial abnormalities (13.0%) (Lilius, 1992) are commonly reported.

Nearly 70% of the patients with a cleft are non-syndromic (Stanier and Moore, 2004), and 30% are syndromic. Almost 600 syndromes have been identified. Most of these syndromes are associated with CPO (Dixon et al., 2011),(Leslie and Marazita, 2013).

The most common syndromes observed in this group of patients were the PRS (9 patients) and the VWS (4 patients). Other common associated syndromes with a CL/P are the 22q11.2 deletion, the Kalman syndrome, Ectodermal dysplasia, ectrodactyly cleft syndrome (EEC3), and the Kabuki syndrome (Bartzela et al., 2017).

The high variability of the associated anomalies in patients with CL/P is related to the examination criteria, type of cleft, patient age at the diagnosis, ethnic background, and malformations reported (Tolarova and Cervenka, 1998).

Many associated anomalies or syndromes are identified only later on in life (e.g., lip pits in the VWS) due to developmental variability among individuals or unremarkable family history. It has been reported that one out of the six associated anomalies has been diagnosed beyond the first year of life (Bower et al., 2010). Dental anomalies are mainly excluded because they are positively correlated to clefts (Phan et al., 2016).

The examination of patients with CL/P and their pedigrees demonstrated a high rate of familial recurrence. The pathogenesis genetic and environmental triggers of syndromic (sCL/P) can be the same as those of nonsyndromic (nsCL/P) (Wang et al., 2016).

The clinical diagnosis in patients with known family history is challenging. The cleft team members should be suspicious of an associated malformation. Therefore, early genetic counseling and regular follow-up appointments should be considered in patients with OFC (Rozendaal et al., 2012).

### 3.2 Strengths and weaknesses of the studies and methodological considerations

In this thesis, the collected data were from the files of Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany, and Radboud University Medical centre, Nijmegen, the Netherlands. As the data presented are retrospective, we must be aware of selection and follow-up bias; therefore, we set a strict protocol for the data acquisition.

There is a lack of controlled studies on patients with cBCLP for many reasons. The incidence of BCLP is very low. Only 7% of cleft patients have a cBCLP phenotype (Sivertsen et al., 2008a). Most European Cleft Centers (76%) have a caseload of 40 or fewer CLP patients. When we conducted our studies, the published retrospective studies did not exceed 57 patients with BCLP patients (Semb, 1991).

Publications on patients with cBCLP and associated syndromes or malformations are even more scarce. We are presenting the results of 102 patients with cBCLP and associated malformations and syndromes (Kouwenberg et al., 2010). Our results are consistent with previously reported data on associated congenital anomalies in patients with BCLP. Female predominance in syndromes has not been previously reported.

One of the studies included in the thesis describes patients' phenotypic variability with CL/P and their family members. Data of 266 index patients and 1257 family members participated in the study.

The results are based on recorded information; therefore, associated malformations and syndromes of these patients may be missing or underestimated.

Moreover, a diagnosis of the congenital disorder in patients without a family history of associated malformations or syndromes may not be diagnosed until the 4<sup>th</sup> or 5<sup>th</sup> year of life (van der Veen et al., 2006). The reason is that either the problem is not apparent yet or is mild due to developmental variations.

For example, the CLP team often diagnoses velocardiofacial syndrome only when the patients have speech and learning difficulties. Furthermore, mitral valve prolapse is considered an autosomal transmitted congenital condition, but the prolapse may not be developed in many cases. Other congenital heart problems may fade gradually as the patients grow (Barbosa et al., 2003).

The incidence of congenital anomalies in patients with CLP can include sampling bias. Many authors report infants from a medical unit and others from whole geographical areas. Selection bias also should be encountered since only survivors are registered without including stillbirths. Unfortunately, often the sample's restrictions are not clearly defined.

It is suggested that each group of patients with CLO, CPO, CLP non-syndromic, syndromic, and patients with associated anomalies, live births, stillbirths, and abortions should be presented separately (Vanderas, 1987).

Associated malformations are grouped as major (functional implications) and minor (aesthetic impact) (Monlleó et al., 2015). Dental anomalies are mainly excluded because they are positively correlated to clefts (Phan et al., 2016).

The increased infant mortality rate (IMR) in patients with CL/P is related to the associated malformations or syndromes (van Nunen et al., 2014).

Associated malformations and syndromes have increased reported incidence over the years due to the new diagnostic tools and the raised awareness of the multidisciplinary teams.

More research is required to identify the risk factors of OFC in family members in different populations and ethnic groups (Vanderas, 1987).

Furthermore, detailed phenotyping of these patients and unraveling the pathogenic process's primary mechanism would help us identify preventive and therapeutic instruments (Bartzela et al., 2017).

Antioxidants may prevent craniofacial malformations by reducing cell death in the neuroepithelium, as shown in Tcofl(+/-) mice (Sakai et al., 2016).

Epidemiological data and clinical studies are required to identify prenatal teratogenic exposures, epigenetic factors, bias, and chance contributing to craniofacial anomalies (Bartzela et al., 2017).

Epigenetic factors (Takahashi et al., 2018) or genes that contribute to organ development's laterality may define the laterality of the cleft, e.g., the BCOR-gene in the Occulo-facio-cardio-dental syndrome (OFCD) (Hilton et al., 2007; Hilton et al., 2009).

Moreover, variants in *PBX1*, *PBX2*, and *TP63* have contributed to nsCL/P's pathogenesis (Maili et al., 2020) and in *TBX22*, *P63*, and *FGFR1* to sCL/P (Zucchero et al., 2004). The *X*-chromosomal recessive form has been identified in families with a cleft of the secondary palate (overt or submucous), and it is often associated with ankyloglossia (Pauws et al., 2009).

A gene-specific mutation or the associated *IRF6* haplotype could raise the recurrent familial risk from the practical value of 3 to 5 percent, making critical genetic counseling for subsequent pregnancy (Zucchero et al., 2004). Therefore, molecular prevention counseling in families at risk and studies to identify exogenous risk factors are mandatory. Identifying

contributing factors may lead to primary preventive interventions, improved genetic counseling, and future preventive action.

Tooth agenesis patterns in patients with cUCLP (Bartzela et al., 2013) are included in this thesis. A high prevalence of tooth agenesis is observed in the cleft and outside the cleft region in patients with cUCLP compared to the general population. We presented the cleft and non-cleft sides separately because differences in TA were expected. To our knowledge, the study on patients with UCLP and tooth agenesis was the second to present patterns of tooth agenesis in the whole mouth and not restricted only to the maxilla or the cleft area (Bartzela et al., 2013).

Thirteen different patterns in the whole mouth were observed, of which six were unique patterns (observed only in one patient). Premolars and/or second incisors were involved in all agenesis patterns. Both the prevalence of orofacial clefting and hypodontia are more frequently observed on the left side, confirming other studies' results.

The tooth length was measured along the pulp canal up to the incisal edge. Other investigators have used the cementoenamel junction for their evaluation. The method we chose to use was more accurate, as it has been proved by other investigators (Brice et al., 1991; Mirabella and Årtun, 1995a).

The orthodontic treatment, the anatomic variability in the cleft area, or the intrinsic patients' factors may trigger the EARR. Longitudinal retrospective studies may obscure the factors that may predispose to EARR. It is challenging to assess (Bartzela et al., 2020) the multifactorial parameters' specific role that activates the EARR in a longitudinal retrospective study. Long-term prospective multicenter studies may elucidate patients' and treatment variables relevant to EARR (Bartzela et al., 2020). Moreover, EARRs were assessed on two-dimensional images (OPGs and periapical (PA) radiographs). Therefore, lesions on the palatal or labial surface are not detectable. Data collected from CBCT showed more accurate results for EEAR (Deng et al., 2018). Many confounding variables may affect the recognition of factors related to EEAR. Prospective clinical trials may help identify the predisposing factors and define treatment protocols to eliminate EARR (Deng et al., 2018).

No significant differences were found for the BCLP yardstick scores between the three formats and the four raters (Leenarts et al., 2012). Digital models and photographs of dental casts can be used for rating dental arch relationships in patients with cBCLP. These formats can replace the conventional plaster casts for intercenter treatment outcome evaluation.

Nevertheless, facial growth and primary surgery in different centers can be appreciated only when cranial growth patterns are known. Therefore, the cranial base's morphology should be evaluated as determining factor in the dental and skeletal relationship.

Evidence-based medicine is necessary to give insight to the patients and the interdisciplinary team for health care improvement.

Systematic reviews (SR) or meta-analyses (MA) provide the strongest evidence for practice decisions. Randomized controlled trial (RCT) provides, in second place, evidence for the examined interventions (McPeek et al., 1989). Therefore, as included in this thesis, case series studies should be replaced by prospective clinical trials.

Nevertheless, there are many difficulties in performing trials, especially in patients with OFC. Therefore, only a few RCTs exist and often demonstrate limited evidence.

Patients with OFC need treatment from birth until the end of craniofacial growth (Bartzela, 2019), and there is a need to determine the impact and outcome of each intervention. Furthermore, long-term monitoring is required for the registration of scarce or late outcomes. Moreover, even if the surgical procedures are the same, there are many factors like minor surgical details, surgeons' learning curve, and different levels of training of the surgical team (Bartzela, 2011) that make the comparisons challenging. The various teams are using different scales for rating the severity of the cleft, making the outcome assessments and intercenter comparisons difficult. For these reasons, the treatment interventions and surgical procedures performed in patients with OFC are based on retrospective studies, surgeons' choice, and in some cases, even the burden of care (Hall et al., 2009).

Conclusively, we could say the alternative perspective designs could be used for outcome evaluation in patients with OFC, such as cohorts with cross-sections over the observational time. Suppose the most critical confounders are measured, and satisfactory outcomes are used uniformly. In that case, advanced statistical techniques can be employed to give valuable information for improving the treatment outcome of individuals with congenital craniofacial anomalies.

### **3.3** Clinical implications

In this thesis, the clinical phenotypes of patients with CLP are presented (Bartzela et al., 2021). Associated syndromes and malformations of these patients have also been reported (Bartzela et al., 2021) to improve communication and interaction of the specialties involved in treating these patients. Knowledge gaps and differences in diagnostic definitions, medical records, and OFCs' treatment make mandatory multidisciplinary collaboration on a national and international level. Identifying craniofacial characteristics and associated malformations can lead to an early diagnosis and recognition of genetic risk factors among non-affected individuals (Richmond et al., 2018). The extensive phenotypic variability, even among relatives, often makes an early diagnosis challenging (Bartzela et al., 2021). Patients with unknown family history, especially an early diagnosis, are even more complicated.

Genetic and environmental factors contribute between the 5th and 8th gestational week to the etiopathogenesis of these syndromes. Prenatal diagnosis is essential for better genetic counseling, postpartum management, treatment planning, and parenthood preparation (McDonald-McGinn et al., 2015). Preventive intervention from early pregnancy, implemented by agents such as antioxidants (Sakai et al., 2016), may help prevent these disorders' pathogenicity (Bartzela et al., 2017).

The interdisciplinary team treating patients with CL/P is evaluating the function and the development of the craniofacial structures.

Deep phenotyping and 3D face imaging may assist in mechanistic or early genetic diagnosis (Lewyllie et al., 2018). Identifying genetic variants related to these patients may advance personalized health care (Bartzela et al., 2017).

OFCs and associated malformations may raise suspicion for other related disorders and syndromes. The most common associated malformations are in the skeletal, urogenital, cardiovascular, and central nervous systems (Stoll, 2000; Kouwenberg et al., 2010; Bartzela et al., 2021).

In a sample of 460 patients with OFC, the incidence of patients with cardiovascular anomalies was five times higher than in the general population (Stoll, 1985). Some congenital heart defects are life-threatening; therefore, an early diagnosis of these conditions is vital.

Close monitoring of these patients is essential because some malformations or disorders can be identified later in life. Syndromes such as the 22q11DS (22q11 deletion syndrome) may be suspected and diagnosed as learning disabilities or psychiatric disturbances that are apparent or recognized in later developmental stages (Bassett et al., 2011).

The integrated approach and long-term treatment planning from the multidisciplinary team may assist in the best treatment outcome. Interdisciplinary care is needed until the end of craniofacial growth and, in many conditions, even longer.

Nevertheless, treatment is complicated because of knowledge gaps and dental and craniofacial developmental phenotypic variations.

The etiopathogenesis should be considered, especially in patients with myotonic, nerve palsy, or facial expression disorders. A valuable tool for evaluating the craniofacial development of non-affected individuals and craniofacial anomalies is 3D stereophotogrammetry (Brons et al., 2013).

Affected individuals have a higher morbidity and mortality rate than non-affected (Ngai et al., 2005; Christensen et al., 2004). The main reasons are the associated congenital malformations (61%) and infections (17%) (Kang et al., 2012).

Moreover, dental phenotyping is only possible at 12-14 years of age after the eruption of all permanent teeth (Bartzela et al., 2017). However, phenotyping of the craniofacial features is possible only after growth cessation of the craniofacial complex, at about 18 years of age (Bartzela et al., 2017).

TA is more common in CLP patients than in the general population (Polder et al., 2004). TA might be attributed to developmental factors, such as tissue insufficiency in the cleft area or iatrogenic interventions related to some surgical procedures (Lekkas et al., 2000). The increased prevalence of TA outside the cleft region in the maxilla and the mandible implies a common genetic pathway of the two conditions (Bartzela et al., 2013). Most patients with OFC need complex and long-term orthodontic treatment with an MBA.

The orthodontic treatment focuses on expanding the dental arch and establishing symmetry of the collapsed alveolar segments before the secondary bone grafting. According to the protocol of the Charité – Universitaetsmedizin Berlin, Campus Mitte, the patients received autologous bone harvested from the iliac crest. The secondary autologous bone grafting (SABG) was performed before the lateral or canine eruption, depending on the cleft's location. The grafted cancellous bone is radiographically homogenous with the host bone after approximately three months (Bartzela et al., 2020). The OTM on the cleft side can then start actively through the grafted bone.

The EARR has been evaluated in mature and immature bone (Nakamoto et al., 2002). The radiographic evaluation of the maxillary incisors six months after the orthodontic treatment initiation with an MBA may point out the patients at risk (Smale et al., 2005). The paralleling technique has been used as a standardized method for evaluating EARR, but the OTM (torque) may bias the results (Chan and Darendeliler, 2004; Årtun et al., 2009; Barros et al., 2017). CBCT is considered more reliable for the diagnosis of EARR (Aras et al., 2018b). Nevertheless, it should be used for EARR only if available (Barros et al., 2017) because of ALARA restrictions.

Preexisting EARRs (Jiang et al., 2010), initial atypical root form (Mirabella and Årtun, 1995b; Årtun et al., 2005), and oral habits (e.g., lip- or tongue posture or dysfunction) (Pandis et al., 2008b) have been considered risk factors for EARR during the orthodontic treatment. Furthermore, diseases (osteoporosis, hyperthyroidism, etc.) or medication (bisphosphonates, estrogen hormone therapy, etc.) that affect bone metabolism are associated with an increased EARR (Verna et al., 2003).

Patients with CLP need a complex and extended orthodontic treatment due to a lack of arch continuity (Bartzela et al., 2020), rotated incisors on the cleft side, and collapsed asymmetric arches. Severe EARR due to orthodontic treatment is relatively rare but more often seen on the cleft side's central incisors.

In the early stages of OTM, corticotomies and corticisions may decrease the susceptibility to EARR (Peron et al., 2017).

Follow-up of patients with CL/P or intercenter studies to evaluate the treatment outcome can be performed with CDs (Compact Discs) or e-mail transfer of the photographic representation of the dental casts or digital models (Leenarts et al., 2012).

This method can enable us to organize easier and more efficient intercenter studies or remote clinical audits. The images could be placed on a password-protected website allowing other researchers or accredited raters anywhere in the world to score the treatment outcome. With training packages for new users, this method could increase the accessibility of regional Good Practice Archives.

Early identification of patients' associated medical problems with CL/P, TA, or EARR will lead to accurate diagnosis and long-term treatment intervention from the clinical perspective. The team's goal is to overcome existing clinical challenges that hamper a satisfying functional and aesthetic outcome, improving the patients' and their families' satisfaction and, above all, their quality of life.

#### 3.4 Conclusions and recommendations for further research

The complexity and severity of orofacial clefts (OFCs) require centralization, multidisciplinary teamwork, coordination of care, collective decision-making, and long-term integrated planning.

Early fetal diagnosis and genetic counseling may help specialized postpartum care, improve treatment outcomes, reduce postpartum mortality rate, and emotional preparation for parenthood.

Early identification of a co-existing condition is fundamental for preventing life-threatening complications and modifying craniofacial growth. Learning disabilities, psychiatric disorders, or heart diseases may be diagnosed at a later age (Shprintzen et al., 1978), (Bartzela et al., 2021). Therefore, the clinical phenotypes of these patients should be reexamined in different developmental stages.

The severity of the cleft is closely associated with a high rate of dental anomalies. The clinical phenotype of patients with CL/P and TA patterns might help identify the responsible genetic factors (Bartzela et al., 2010; Bartzela et al., 2013).

Deep phenotyping of dental and craniofacial structures is possible only after the cessation of these structures' growth and development (Bartzela et al., 2017).

Early interventions and decisions concerning the type and timing of orthodontic treatment (Bartzela et al., 2020) and maxillofacial surgery are often challenging and critical, especially in patients with disrupted craniofacial and dental structures development (Bartzela et al., 2017).

Patients with CLP need a complex and long-term orthodontic treatment with MBA. Identifying anatomical aspects of the bone and teeth close to the cleft area may elucidate the predisposing factors associated with EARR (Bartzela et al., 2020). The extrapolation of results derived from experimental animal studies in humans should be considered cautiously (Bartzela et al., 2009). Further clinical trials are still required to understand better the molecular basis of EARR (Spoerri et al., 2018).

The use of the BCLP yardstick was evaluated in three age groups, and three formats of dental models were used. The photographs and digital models are compared with conventional dental casts. They can assess dental arch relationships in patients with cBCLP using BCLP yardsticks at 6, 9, and 12 years of age. The overjet and crossbite assessment in 2D photographs was more difficult than in dental casts or digital models. The last two formats can be manipulated and oriented on different angulations facilitating the treatment outcome assessment. The cleft audit

protocol or inter-center comparisons can be achieved with a CD or e-mail transfer of the dental casts, simplifying this kind of studies.

Patients with OFC have more frequently associated congenital malformations and syndromes. The team members should be alerted and examine these children in different developmental stages to diagnose an associated malformation or syndrome. Due to scientific knowledge gaps, there is a lack of consensus for these patients' treatment management. Personalized treatment care should be based on patients' variations and needs or priorities.

The overall prevalence of individuals with CL/P and their pedigrees with associated malformations and syndromes emphasizes the need for early identification, interdisciplinary interaction, and long-term planning. Phenotypic variability in pedigrees makes the understanding of etiopathogenesis more difficult. These pedigrees did not propose a particular inheritance trait, but it was produced for further molecular analysis.

Genome-wide linkage analysis has already been performed for pedigrees 6 and 10 (SI 2) (Mangold et al., 2009). Furthermore, genetic analysis of the other pedigrees will be performed for the identification of susceptible loci.

Clinical trials and epidemiological data may help to identify the role of genetic variation, clinical phenotypes, bias, and confounding factors. The team's goal is to ascertain functional and aesthetic outcomes and, above all, the quality of life of these patients and their families.

Further research is required for clinical recommendations and treatment consensus.

Assessment of the cost-effectiveness of the treatment of these patients is complicated. Most of the time, the calculated costs are hospital or insurance charges that often do not represent the actual expenses. Therefore, the disciplines involved in the team should provide cost and outcome assessments.

### 4. Summary

Patients with an orofacial cleft (OFC) need complex treatment and require long-term and collective decisions from the multidisciplinary team. These patients may have an associated congenital malformation or syndrome. Some conditions like learning or psychiatric disorders or heart diseases can be diagnosed later in life. Therefore, the team members should examine the patients in different developmental stages to diagnose early an associated condition. Nevertheless, deep phenotyping of the dental and craniofacial affecting structures is only possible after 14 and 18 years of age, respectively, at the end of these structures' development. Moreover, the genetic basis of OFC is multifactorial and, so far, not well understood. In our study, almost 25% of the examined patients with OFC had a positive family history (Bartzela et al., 2021). Patients with CPO have an associated anomaly or syndrome (66,7%) more often than patients with other cleft types. Skeletal (27,7%) and eye malformations (22,9%) were more common than malformations in other organs or systems. Sex predominance has been registered according to the cleft type. Males were more often observed in CL/P (71,4%) and females (59,7%) in CPO cleft types. Phenotyping CL/P pedigrees make understanding etiopathogenesis even more complicated (Bartzela et al., 2021).

The increased prevalence of TA in these patients inside and outside the cleft region of the maxilla but also in the mandible suggests a common genetic pathway between OFC and TA. Patients with OFC require long-lasting, multidisciplinary orthodontic treatment with an MBA. Expansion and symmetry of the collapsed dental arches, followed by a secondary bone graft to correct the interrupted arch continuity, are required before the orthodontic tooth movement in the cleft region. The severe form of EARR related to orthodontic treatment is rare, and the most commonly affected teeth are the central incisors of the cleft side (Bartzela et al., 2020).

Severe rotation of the central incisors on the cleft side, pre-existing EARR, atypical root form, specific bone anatomical aspects, oral habits (e.g., lip or tongue posture or dysfunction), and associated medical conditions have been considered as predisposing factors for EARR during the orthodontic treatment (Bartzela et al., 2020).

Intercenter studies for evaluating treatment outcomes of patients with CLP can be carried out with e-mail transfer or CDs of images of the dental casts or digital models.

The images could be protected by a password, allowing the participant raters from their computers to access and score the dental models. This method facilitates intercenter studies or remote clinical audits.

Clinical trials, intercenter studies, and epidemiological data may help evaluate treatment results and identify the role of genetic variation bias and confounding factors on clinical phenotypes. Documentation and meticulous record collection of these patients for the quality assessment of the treatment outcome are mandatory. Early identification of associated syndromes or malformations is of vital importance, especially in life-threatening complications.

The type and timing of orthodontic treatment and maxillofacial surgery are critical and often complicated by disrupting dental and craniofacial structures' development.

The team's goal is to improve function and aesthetic outcomes and ascertain a better quality of life for these patients and their families. Patients' and parents' considerations, satisfaction, and psychosocial aspects need research evaluation. Further research is required for clinical recommendations and treatment consensus.

## 5. References

- Al Omari F, Al-Omari IK. 2004. Cleft lip and palate in Jordan: birth prevalence rate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 41:609-612.
- Al-Qawasmi RA, Hartsfield JK, Everett ET, Flury L, Liu L, Foroud TM, Macri JV, Roberts WE. 2003. Genetic predisposition to external apical root resorption. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 123:242-252.
- Alvarez CW, Guion-Almeida ML, Richieri-Costa A. 2014. Clinical and genetic study on 356 Brazilian patients with a distinct phenotype of cleft lip and palate without alveolar ridge involvement. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 42:1952-1957.
- Alzahawi K, Færøvig E, Brudvik P, Bøe OE, Mavragani M. 2014. Root resorption after leveling with super-elastic and conventional steel arch wires: a prospective study. Progress in Orthodontics 15:35.
- Aras I, Unal I, Huniler G, Aras A. 2018a. Root resorption due to orthodontic treatment using self-ligating and conventional brackets. J Orofac Orthop 79:181-190.
- Aras I, Unal I, Huniler G, Aras A. 2018b. Root resorption due to orthodontic treatment using self-ligating and conventional brackets: A cone-beam computed tomography study. J Orofac Orthop 79:181-190.
- Årtun J, Smale I, Behbehani F, Doppel D, Van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2005. Apical root resorption six and 12 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Angle Orthod 75:919-926.
- Årtun J, Van 't Hullenaar R, Doppel D, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2009. Identification of orthodontic patients at risk of severe apical root resorption. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 135:448-455.
- Asher-McDade C, Brattström V, Dahl E, McWilliam J, Mølsted K, Plint DA, Prahl-Andersen B, Semb G, Shaw WC, The RP. 1992. A six-center international study of treatment outcome in patients with clefts of the lip and palate: Part 4. Assessment of nasolabial appearance. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 29:409-412.
- Barbosa MM, Rocha CM, Katina T, Caldas M, Codorniz A, Medeiros C. 2003. Prevalence of congenital heart diseases in oral cleft patients. Pediatr Cardiol 24:369-374.
- Barros SE, Janson G, Chiqueto K, Baldo VO, Baldo TO. 2017. Root resorption of maxillary incisors retracted with and without skeletal anchorage. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 151:397-406.
- Bartzela T. 2011. Treatment outcome in patients with bilateral cleft lip and palate: An intercentre study on dentofacial morphology until 12 years of age. In: Department of

Orthodontics and Craniofacial Biology. Zutphen, The Netherlands: Radboud University. p 174.

- Bartzela T. 2019. Treatment approaches to syndromes affecting craniofacial and dental structures. Journal of the World Federation of Orthodontics 8:131-137.
- Bartzela TN, Carels C, Maltha JC. 2017. Update on 13 Syndromes Affecting Craniofacial and Dental Structures. Front Physiol. 8:1038.
- Bartzela TN, Carels CE, Bronkhorst EM, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2013. Tooth agenesis patterns in unilateral cleft lip and palate in humans. Arch Oral Biol 58:596-602.
- Bartzela TN, Carels CE, Bronkhorst EM, Rønning E, Rizell S, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2010b. Tooth agenesis patterns in bilateral cleft lip and palate. Eur J Oral Sci 118:47-52.
- Bartzela T, Leenarts C, Bronkhorst E, Borstlap W, Katsaros C, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2011. Comparison of two scoring systems for evaluation of treatment outcome in patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 48:455-461.
- Bartzela T, Katsaros C, Shaw WC, Ronning E, Rizell S, Bronkhorst E, Okada TO, de SLPFH, Dominguez-Gonzalez S, Hagberg C, Semb G, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2010a. A longitudinal three-center study of dental arch relationship in patients with bilateral cleft lip and palate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 47:167-174.
- Bartzela TN, Mang de la Rosa MR, Wolf K, Schmidt A, Opitz C. 2020. Apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment in patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate. Clin Oral Investig 24:1807-1819.
- Bartzela T, Türp JC, Motschall E, Maltha JC. 2009. Medication effects on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic literature review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 135:16-26.
- Bassett AS, McDonald-McGinn DM, Devriendt K, Digilio MC, Goldenberg P, Habel A, Marino B, Oskarsdottir S, Philip N, Sullivan K, Swillen A, Vorstman J. 2011. Practical guidelines for managing patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. J Pediatr 159:332-339.e331.
- Baumrind S, Korn EL, Boyd RL. 1996. Apical root resorption in orthodontically treated adults. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 110:311-320.
- Bergé SJ, Plath H, Van De Vondel PT, Appel T, Niederhagen B, Von Lindern JJ, Reich RH, Hansmann M. 2001. Fetal cleft lip and palate: sonographic diagnosis, chromosomal abnormalities, associated anomalies and postnatal outcome in 70 fetuses. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 18:422-431.
- Boehringer S, van der Lijn F, Liu F, Gunther M, Sinigerova S, Nowak S, Ludwig KU, Herberz R, Klein S, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Niessen WJ, Breteler MM, van der Lugt A, Wurtz RP, Nothen MM, Horsthemke B, Wieczorek D, Mangold E, Kayser M. 2011.

Genetic determination of human facial morphology: links between cleft-lips and normal variation. Eur J Hum Genet 19:1192-1197.

- Bongaarts CA, Prahl-Andersen B, Bronkhorst EM, Prahl C, Ongkosuwito EM, Borstlap WA, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2009. Infant orthopedics and facial growth in complete unilateral cleft lip and palate until six years of age (Dutchcleft). Cleft Palate Craniofac J 46:654-663.
- Bower C, Rudy E, Callaghan A, Quick J, Nassar N. 2010. Age at diagnosis of birth defects. *B*irth Defects Res Part A - Clin Mol Teratol 88:251-255. doi:10.1002/bdra.2065
- Brattstrom V, Odenrick L, Kvam E. 1989. Dentofacial morphology in children playing musical wind instruments: a longitudinal study. Eur J Orthod 11:179-185.
- Brezniak N, Wasserstein A. 1993. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment: Part 2. Literature Review. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 103:138-146.
- Brice GL, Sampson WJ, Sims MR. 1991. An ultrastructural evaluation of the relationship between epithelial rests of Malassez and orthodontic root resorption and repair in man. Aust Orthod J 12:90-94.
- Brons S, van Beusichem ME, Maal TJ, Plooij JM, Bronkhorst EM, Bergé SJ, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2013. Development and reproducibility of a 3D stereophotogrammetric reference frame for facial soft tissue growth of babies and young children with and without orofacial clefts. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 42:2-8.
- Calzolari E, Pierini A, Astolfi G, Bianchi F, Neville AJ, Rivieri F. 2007. Associated anomalies in multi-malformed infants with cleft lip and palate: An epidemiologic study of nearly 6 million births in 23 EUROCAT registries. Am J Med Genet A 143a:528-537.
- Chan EK, Darendeliler MA. 2004. Exploring the third dimension in root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 7:64-70.
- Chetpakdeechit W, Mohlin B, Persson C, Hagberg C. 2010. Cleft extension and risks of other birth defects in children with isolated cleft palate. Acta Odontol Scand 68:86-90.
- Christensen K, Fogh-Andersen P. 1993. Cleft lip (+/- cleft palate) in Danish twins, 1970-1990. Am J Med Genet 47:910-916.
- Christensen K, Juel K, Herskind AM, Murray JC. 2004. Long term follow up study of survival associated with cleft lip and palate at birth. Bmj 328:1405.
- Deng Y, Sun Y, Xu T. 2018. Evaluation of root resorption after comprehensive orthodontic treatment using cone beam computed tomography (CBCT): a meta-analysis. BMC Oral Health 18:116.
- Dentici ML, Di Pede A, Lepri FR, Gnazzo M, Lombardi MH, Auriti C, Petrocchi S, Pisaneschi E, Bellacchio E, Capolino R, Braguglia A, Angioni A, Dotta A, Digilio MC,

Dallapiccola B. 2015. Kabuki syndrome: clinical and molecular diagnosis in the first year of life. Arch Dis Child 100:158-164.

- Dewinter G, Quirynen M, Heidbuchel K, Verdonck A, Willems G, Carels C. 2003. Dental abnormalities, bone graft quality, and periodontal conditions in patients with unilateral cleft lip and palate at different phases of orthodontic treatment. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 40:343-350.
- Dixon MJ, Marazita ML, Beaty TH, Murray JC. 2011. Cleft lip and palate: understanding genetic and environmental influences. Nat Rev Genet 12:167-178.
- Eerens K, Vlietinck R, Heidbuchel K, Van Olmen A, Derom C, Willems G, Carels C. 2001. Hypodontia and tooth formation in groups of children with cleft, siblings without cleft, and nonrelated controls. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 38:374-378.
- Fox N. 2005. Longer orthodontic treatment may result in greater external apical root resorption. Evid Based Dent 6:21.
- Fraser FC. 1970. The genetics of cleft lip and cleft palate. Am J Hum Genet 22:336-352.
- Grosen D, Bille C, Petersen I, Skytthe A, Hjelmborg J, Pedersen JK, Murray JC, Christensen K. 2011. Risk of oral clefts in twins. Epidemiology 22:313-319.
- Group IW. 2011. Prevalence at birth of cleft lip with or without cleft palate: data from the International Perinatal Database of Typical Oral Clefts (IPDTOC). Cleft Palate Craniofac J 48:66-81.
- Hagberg C, Larson O, Milerad J. 1998. Incidence of cleft lip and palate and risks of additional malformations. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 35:40-45.
- Hall NJ, Eaton S, Pierro A. 2009. The evidence base for neonatal surgery. Early Hum Dev 85:713-718.
- Hellquist R, Linder-Aronson S, Norling M, Ponten B, Stenberg T. 1979. Dental abnormalities in patients with alveolar clefts, operated upon with or without primary periosteoplasty. Eur J Orthod 1:169-180.
- Hilton E, Johnston J, Whalen S, Okamoto N, Hatsukawa Y, Nishio J, Kohara H, Hirano Y, Mizuno S, Torii C, Kosaki K, Manouvrier S, Boute O, Perveen R, Law C, Moore A, Fitzpatrick D, Lemke J, Fellmann F, Debray FG, Dastot-Le-Moal F, Gerard M, Martin J, Bitoun P, Goossens M, Verloes A, Schinzel A, Bartholdi D, Bardakjian T, Hay B, Jenny K, Johnston K, Lyons M, Belmont JW, Biesecker LG, Giurgea I, Black G. 2009. BCOR analysis in patients with OFCD and Lenz microphthalmia syndromes, mental retardation with ocular anomalies, and cardiac laterality defects. Eur J Hum Genet 17:1325-1335.

- Hilton EN, Manson FD, Urquhart JE, Johnston JJ, Slavotinek AM, Hedera P, Stattin EL, Nordgren A, Biesecker LG, Black GC. 2007. Left-sided embryonic expression of the BCL-6 corepressor, BCOR, is required for vertebrate laterality determination. Hum Mol Genet 16:1773-1782.
- Hovorakova M, Lesot H, Peterkova R, Peterka M. 2006. Origin of the deciduous upper lateral incisor and its clinical aspects. J Dent Res 85:167-171.
- Howe BJ, Cooper ME, Vieira AR, Weinberg SM, Resick JM, Nidey NL, Wehby GL, Marazita ML, Moreno Uribe LM. 2015. Spectrum of dental phenotypes in nonsyndromic orofacial clefting. J Dent Res 94:905-912.
- Howe LJ, Lee MK, Sharp GC, Davey Smith G, St Pourcain B, Shaffer JR, Ludwig KU, Mangold E, Marazita ML, Feingold E, Zhurov A, Stergiakouli E, Sandy J, Richmond S, Weinberg SM, Hemani G, Lewis SJ. 2018. Investigating the shared genetics of nonsyndromic cleft lip/palate and facial morphology. PLoS Genet 14:e1007501.
- Huddart AG, Bodenham RS. 1972. The evaluation of arch form and occlusion in unilateral cleft palate subjects. Cleft Palate J 9:194-209.
- Hujoel PP, DeRouen TA. 1995. A survey of endpoint characteristics in periodontal clinical trials published 1988-1992, and implications for future studies. J Clin Periodontol 22:397-407.
- Iglesias-Linares A, Sonnenberg B, Solano B, Yañez-Vico R-M, Solano E, Lindauer SJ, Flores-Mir C. 2017. Orthodontically induced external apical root resorption in patients treated with fixed appliances vs removable aligners. Angle Orthod 87:3-10.
- Jacobs C, Gebhardt PF, Jacobs V, Hechtner M, Meila D, Wehrbein H. 2014. Root resorption, treatment time and extraction rate during orthodontic treatment with self-ligating and conventional brackets. Head Face Med 10:2.
- Jensen BL, Kreiborg S, Dahl E, Fogh-Andersen P. 1988. Cleft lip and palate in Denmark, 1976-1981: epidemiology, variability, and early somatic development. Cleft Palate J 25:258-269.
- Jiang RP, McDonald JP, Fu MK. 2010. Root resorption before and after orthodontic treatment: a clinical study of contributory factors. Eur J Orthod 32:693-697.
- Jugessur A, Shi M, Gjessing HK, Lie RT, Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR, Christensen K, Boyles AL, Daack-Hirsch S, Nguyen TT, Christiansen L, Lidral AC, Murray JC. 2010. Maternal genes and facial clefts in offspring: a comprehensive search for genetic associations in two population-based cleft studies from Scandinavia. PLoS One 5:e11493.

- Kadir A, Mossey PA, Blencowe H, Moorthie S, Lawn JE, Mastroiacovo P, Modell B. 2017. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the birth prevalence of orofacial clefts in lowand middle-income countries. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 54:571-581.
- Kang SL, Narayanan CS, Kelsall W. 2012. Mortality among infants born with orofacial clefts in a single cleft network. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 49:508-511.
- Khandelwal KD, Ishorst N, Zhou H, Ludwig KU, Venselaar H, Gilissen C, Thonissen M, van Rooij IA, Dreesen K, Steehouwer M, van de Vorst M, Bloemen M, van Beusekom E, Roosenboom J, Borstlap W, Admiraal R, Dormaar T, Schoenaers J, Vander Poorten V, Hens G, Verdonck A, Bergé S, Roeleveldt N, Vriend G, Devriendt K, Brunner HG, Mangold E, Hoischen A, van Bokhoven H, Carels CE. 2017. Novel IRF6 mutations detected in orofacial cleft patients by targeted massively parallel sequencing. J Dent Res 96:179-185.
- Kjær I. 1995. Morphological characteristics of dentitions developing excessive root resorption during orthodontic treatment. European Journal of Orthodontics 17:25-34.
- Koga H, Iida K, Maeda T, Takahashi M, Fukushima N, Goshi T. 2016. Epidemiologic research on malformations associated with cleft lip and cleft palate in Japan. PLoS One 11:e0149773.
- Kondo S, Schutte BC, Richardson RJ, Bjork BC, Knight AS, Watanabe Y, Howard E, de Lima RL, Daack-Hirsch S, Sander A, McDonald-McGinn DM, Zackai EH, Lammer EJ, Aylsworth AS, Ardinger HH, Lidral AC, Pober BR, Moreno L, Arcos-Burgos M, Valencia C, Houdayer C, Bahuau M, Moretti-Ferreira D, Richieri-Costa A, Dixon MJ, Murray JC. 2002. Mutations in IRF6 cause Van der Woude and popliteal pterygium syndromes. Nat Genet 32:285-289.
- Korolenkova MV, Starikova NV, Udalova NV. 2019. The role of external aetiological factors in dental anomalies in non-syndromic cleft lip and palate patients. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent 20:105-111.
- Kouwenberg M, Draaisma J, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Bartzela T. 2010. [Associated congenital anomalies in patients with bilateral cleft lip and palate]. Nederlands Tijdschrift Kindergeneesk 78:15-20.
- Leenarts CM, Bartzela TN, Bronkhorst EM, Semb G, Shaw WC, Katsaros C, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2012. Photographs of dental casts or digital models: rating dental arch relationships in bilateral cleft lip and palate. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 41:180-185.
- Lehtonen V, Anttonen V, Ylikontiola LP, Koskinen S, Pesonen P, Sandor GK. 2015. Dental anomalies associated with cleft lip and palate in Northern Finland. Eur J Paediatr Dent 16:327-332.

- Leite V, Conti AC, Navarro R, Almeida M, Oltramari-Navarro P, Almeida R. 2012. Comparison of root resorption between self-ligating and conventional preadjusted brackets using cone beam computed tomography. Angle Orthod 82:1078-1082.
- Lekkas C, Latief BS, ter Rahe SP, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2000. The adult unoperated cleft patient: absence of maxillary teeth outside the cleft area. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 37:17-20.
- Leslie EJ, Koboldt DC, Kang CJ, Ma L, Hecht JT, Wehby GL, Christensen K, Czeizel AE, Deleyiannis FW, Fulton RS, Wilson RK, Beaty TH, Schutte BC, Murray JC, Marazita ML. 2016. IRF6 mutation screening in non-syndromic orofacial clefting: analysis of 1521 families. Clin Genet 90:28-34.
- Lewyllie A, Cadenas De Llano-Pérula M, Verdonck A, Willems G. 2018. Three-dimensional imaging of soft and hard facial tissues in patients with craniofacial syndromes: a systematic review of methodological quality. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 47:20170154.
- Liang J, Von den Hoff J, Lange J, Ren Y, Bian Z, Carels CE. 2016. MSX1 mutations and associated disease phenotypes: genotype-phenotype relations. Eur J Hum Genet 24:1663-1670.
- Lilius GP. 1992. Clefts with associated anomalies and syndromes in Finland. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg 26:185-196.
- Lithovius RH, Ylikontiola LP, Harila V, Sandor GK. 2014. A descriptive epidemiology study of cleft lip and palate in Northern Finland. Acta Odontol Scand 72:372-375.
- Logjes RJH, Haasnoot M, Lemmers PMA, Nicolaije MFA, van den Boogaard MH, Mink van der Molen AB, Breugem CC. 2018. Mortality in Robin sequence: identification of risk factors. Eur J Pediatr 177:781-789.
- Ludwig KU, Bohmer AC, Bowes J, Nikolic M, Ishorst N, Wyatt N, Hammond NL, Golz L, Thieme F, Barth S, Schuenke H, Klamt J, Spielmann M, Aldhorae K, Rojas-Martinez A, Nothen MM, Rada-Iglesias A, Dixon MJ, Knapp M, Mangold E. 2017. Imputation of orofacial clefting data identifies novel risk loci and sheds light on the genetic background of cleft lip +/- cleft palate and cleft palate only. Hum Mol Genet 26:829-842.
- Luijsterburg AJM, Vermeij-Keers C. 2011. Ten Years Recording Common Oral Clefts with a New Descriptive System. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 48:173-182.
- Maili L, Letra A, Silva R, Buchanan EP, Mulliken JB, Greives MR, Teichgraeber JF, Blackwell SJ, Ummer R, Weber R, Chiquet B, Blanton SH, Hecht JT. 2020. PBX-WNT-P63-IRF6 pathway in nonsyndromic cleft lip and palate. Birth Defects Res 112:234-244.
- Malmgren O, Goldson L, Hill C, Orwin A, Petrini L, Lundberg M. 1982. Root resorption after orthodontic treatment of traumatized teeth. Am J Orthod 82:487-491.

- Mangold E, Ludwig KU, Nöthen MM. 2011. Breakthroughs in the genetics of orofacial clefting. Trends in Molecular Medicine 17:725-733.
- Mansilla MA, Kimani J, Mitchell LE, Christensen K, Boomsma DI, Daack-Hirsch S, Nepomucena B, Wyszynski DF, Felix TM, Martin NG, Murray JC. 2005. Discordant MZ twins with cleft lip and palate: a model for identifying genes in complex traits. Twin Res Hum Genet 8:39-46.
- Marini NJ, Yang W, Asrani K, Witte JS, Rine J, Lammer EJ, Shaw GM. 2016. Sequence variation in folate pathway genes and risks of human cleft lip with or without cleft palate. Am J Med Genet A 170:2777-2787.
- Mars M, Batra P, Worrell E. 2006. Complete unilateral cleft lip and palate: validity of the fiveyear index and the Goslon yardstick in predicting long-term dental arch relationships. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 43:557-562.
- Mars M, Plint DA, Houston WJ, Bergland O, Semb G. 1987. The Goslon Yardstick: a new system of assessing dental arch relationships in children with unilateral clefts of the lip and palate. Cleft Palate J 24:314-322.
- Massler M, Malone AJ. 1954. Root resorption in human permanent teeth. Am J Orthod 40:619-633.
- Matthews JL, Oddone-Paolucci E, Harrop RA. 2015. The Epidemiology of Cleft Lip and Palate in Canada, 1998 to 2007. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 52:417-424.
- Mavragani M, Vergari A, Selliseth NJ, Bøe OE, Wisth PL. 2000 A radiographic comparison of apical root resorption after orthodontic treatment with a standard edgewise and a straight-wire edgewise technique. Eur J Orthod. 22:665-674.
- McDonald-McGinn DM, Sullivan KE, Marino B, Philip N, Swillen A, Vorstman JA, Zackai EH, Emanuel BS, Vermeesch JR, Morrow BE, Scambler PJ, Bassett AS. 2015. 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15071.
- McPeek B, Mosteller F, McKneally M. 1989. Randomized clinical trials in surgery. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 5:317-332.
- Milerad J, Larson O, Hagberg C, Ideberg M. 1997. Associated malformations in infants with cleft lip and palate: a prospective, population-based study. Pediatrics 100:180-186.
- Mirabella AD, Årtun J. 1995a. Prevalence and severity of apical root resorption of maxillary anterior teeth in adult orthodontic patients. Eur J Orthod 17:93-99.
- Mirabella AD, Årtun J. 1995b. Risk factors for apical root resorption of maxillary anterior teeth in adult orthodontic patients. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 108:48-55.
- Monlleó IL, de Barros AGR, Fontes MIB, de Andrade AKM, Gisele de M. Brito GM, do Nascimentod DL, Gil-da-Silva-Lopese VL. 2015. Diagnostic implications of associated 111

defects in patients with typical orofacial clefts. *J Pediatr (Rio J)* 91:485-492. doi:10.1016/j.jped.2014.12.001

- Mossey P. 2007. Epidemiology underpinning research in the aetiology of orofacial clefts. Orthod Craniofac Res 10:114-120.
- Mossey P, Castilla E. 2003. Global registry and database oncraniofacial anomalies: Report of a WHO Registry Meeting on Craniofacial Anomalies. Bauru, Brazil, 4–5 December 2001. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Mossey PA, Modell B. 2012. Epidemiology of oral clefts 2012: an international perspective. Front Oral Biol 16:1-18.
- Motokawa M, Sasamoto T, Kaku M, Kawata T, Matsuda Y, Terao A, Tanne K. 2012. Association between root resorption incident to orthodontic treatment and treatment factors. Eur J Orthod 34:350-356.
- Murray JC. 2002. Gene/environment causes of cleft lip and/or palate. Clin Genet 61:248-256.
- Nakamoto N, Nagasaka H, Daimaruya T, Takahashi I, Sugawara J, Mitani H. 2002. Experimental tooth movement through mature and immature bone regenerates after distraction osteogenesis in dogs. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 121:385-395.
- Nanekrungsan K, Patanaporn V, Janhom A, Korwanich N. 2012a. External apical root resorption in maxillary incisors in orthodontic patients: associated factors and radiographic evaluation. Imaging Sci Dent 42:147-154.
- Nanekrungsan K, Patanaporn V, Janhom A, Korwanich N. 2012b. External apical root resorption in maxillary incisors in orthodontic patients: associated factors and radiographic evaluation. Imaging Sci Dent 42:147-154.
- Ngai CW, Martin WL, Tonks A, Wyldes MP, Kilby MD. 2005. Are isolated facial cleft lip and palate associated with increased perinatal mortality? A cohort study from the West Midlands Region, 1995-1997. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 17:203-206.
- Nollet PJ, Katsaros C, van 't Hof MA, Bongaarts CA, Semb G, Shaw WC, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2004. Photographs of study casts: an alternative medium for rating dental arch relationships in unilateral cleft lip and palate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 41:646-650.
- Odenrick L, Brattström V. 1985. Nailbiting: frequency and association with root resorption during orthodontic treatment. Br J Orthod 12:78-81.
- Otis LL, Hong JS, Tuncay OC. 2004. Bone structure effect on root resorption. Orthod Craniofac Res 7:165-177.
- Ozawa TO, Shaw WC, Katsaros C, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM, Hagberg C, Rønning E, Semb G. 2011. A new yardstick for rating dental arch relationship in patients with complete bilateral cleft lip and palate. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 48:167-172.

- Pandis N, Nasika M, Polychronopoulou A, Eliades T. 2008a. External apical root resorption in patients treated with conventional and self-ligating brackets. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 134:646-651.
- Pandis N, Nasika M, Polychronopoulou A, Eliades T. 2008b. External apical root resorption in patients treated with conventional and self-ligating brackets. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 134:646-651.
- Peron AP, Johann AC, Papalexiou V, Tanaka OM, Guariza-Filho O, Ignácio SA, Camargo ES. 2017. Tissue responses resulting from tooth movement surgically assisted by corticotomy and corticision in rats. Angle Orthod 87:118-124.
- Phan M, Conte F, Khandelwal KD, Ockeloen CW, Bartzela T, Kleefstra T, van Bokhoven H, Rubini M, Zhou H, Carels CE. 2016. Tooth agenesis and orofacial clefting: genetic brothers in arms? Hum Genet 135:1299-1327.
- Polder BJ, Van't Hof MA, Van der Linden FP, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2004. A meta-analysis of the prevalence of dental agenesis of permanent teeth. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 32:217-226.
- Ranta R. 1986. A review of tooth formation in children with cleft lip/palate. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 90:11-18.
- Raut JR, Simeone RM, Tinker SC, Canfield MA, Day RS, Agopian AJ. 2019. Proportion of Orofacial Clefts Attributable to Recognized Risk Factors. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 56:151-158.
- Richmond S, Howe LJ, Lewis S, Stergiakouli E, Zhurov A. 2018. Facial Genetics: A Brief Overview. Front Genet 9:462.
- Rizell S, Bellardie H, Karsten A, Sæle P, Mooney J, Heliövaara A, Küseler A, Brinck E, Skaare P, Mølsted K, Chalien MN, Marcusson A, Eyres P, Shaw W, Semb G. 2020. Scandcleft randomized trials of primary surgery for unilateral cleft lip and palate: dental anomalies in 8-year olds. Eur J Orthod 42:8-14.
- Roscoe MG, Meira JB, Cattaneo PM. 2015. Association of orthodontic force system and root resorption: A systematic review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 147:610-626.
- Rosenberg HN. 1972. An evaluation of the incidence and amount of apical root resorption and dilaceration occuring in orthodontically treated teeth, having incompletely formed roots at the beginning of Begg treatment. Am J Orthod 61:524-525.
- Rozendaal AM, Luijsterburg AJ, Ongkosuwito EM, van den Boogaard MJ, de Vries E, Hovius SE, Vermeij-Keers C. 2012. Delayed diagnosis and underreporting of congenital anomalies associated with oral clefts in the Netherlands: a national validation study. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 65:780-790.

- Sakai D, Dixon J, Achilleos A, Dixon M, Trainor PA. 2016. Prevention of Treacher Collins syndrome craniofacial anomalies in mouse models via maternal antioxidant supplementation. Nat Commun 7:10328.
- Sameshima GT, Sinclair PM. 2001. Predicting and preventing root resorption: part 1. Diagnostic factors. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 119:505-510.
- Sárközi A, Wyszynski DF, Czeizel AE. 2005. Oral clefts with associated anomalies: findings in the Hungarian Congenital Abnormality Registry. BMC Oral Health 5:4.
- Semb G. 1991. A study of facial growth in patients with bilateral cleft lip and palate treated by the Oslo CLP Team. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 28:22-39; discussion 46-28.
- Shkoukani MA, Chen M, Vong A. 2013. Cleft lip a comprehensive review. Front Pediatr 1:53.
- Shprintzen RJ, Goldberg RB, Lewin ML, Sidoti EJ, Berkman MD, Argamaso RV, Young D. 1978. A new syndrome involving cleft palate, cardiac anomalies, typical facies, and learning disabilities: velo-cardio-facial syndrome. Cleft Palate J 15:56-62.
- Simplicio H, da Silva JS, Caldas SG, dos Santos-Pinto A. 2012. External apical root resorption in retracted incisors. Orthodontics (Chic.) 13:86-93.
- Sivertsen Å, Wilcox A, Johnson GE, Åbyholm F, Vindenes HA, Lie RT. 2008a. Prevalence of major anatomic variations in oral clefts. Plast Reconstr Surg 121:587-595.
- Sivertsen A, Wilcox AJ, Skjaerven R, Vindenes HA, Abyholm F, Harville E, Lie RT. 2008b. Familial risk of oral clefts by morphological type and severity: population based cohort study of first degree relatives. Bmj 336:432-434.
- Smale I, Artun J, Behbehani F, Doppel D, van't Hof M, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM. 2005. Apical root resorption 6 months after initiation of fixed orthodontic appliance therapy. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 128:57-67.
- Spoerri A, Koletsi D, Eliades T. 2018. Intrinsic hormone-like molecules and external root resorption during orthodontic tooth movement. A systematic review and meta-analysis in preclinical in-vivo research. Front Physiol 9:303.
- Spurrier SW, Hall SH, Joondeph DR, Shapiro PA, Riedel RA. 1990. A comparison of apical root resorption during orthodontic treatment in endodontically treated and vital teeth. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 97:130-134.
- Stanier P, Moore GE. 2004. Genetics of cleft lip and palate: syndromic genes contribute to the incidence of non-syndromic clefts. Hum Mol Genet 13 Spec No 1:R73-81.
- Stoll C. 1985. The northeastern France birth defects monitoring system. Prog Clin Biol Res 163b:157-162.

- Stoll C, Alembik, Y., Dott, B., Roth, M.P. 2000. Associated malformations in cases with oral clefts. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 37:41-47.
- Takahashi M, Hosomichi K, Yamaguchi T, Nagahama R, Yoshida H, Marazita ML, Weinberg SM, Maki K, Tajima A. 2018. Exploration of genetic factors determining cleft side in a pair of monozygotic twins with mirror-image cleft lip and palate using whole-genome sequencing and comparison of craniofacial morphology. Arch Oral Biol 96:33-38.
- Thompson JM, Stone PR, Sanders M, van der Zee H, Borman B, Fowler PV. 2016. The incidence of orofacial cleft in live births in New Zealand. N Z Med J 129:64-71.
- Tolarova MM and Cervenka J. 1998. Classification and birth prevalence of orofacial clefts. Am J Med Genet 75:126-137.
- Urbanova W, Kotova M, Vankova Z. 2013. The incidence of cleft lip and palate in the Czech Republic in 1994-2008. Bratisl Lek Listy 114:474-479.
- van den Boogaard MJ, Dorland M, Beemer FA, van Amstel HK. 2000. MSX1 mutation is associated with orofacial clefting and tooth agenesis in humans. Nat Genet 24:342-343.
- van der Veen FJ, van Hagen JM, Berkhof J, Don Griot JP. 2006. Regional underreporting of associated congenital anomalies in cleft patients in the Netherlands. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 43:710-714.
- van Nunen DP, van den Boogaard MJ, Don Griot JP, Ruttermann M, van der Veken LT, Breugem CC. 2014. Elevated infant mortality rate among Dutch Oral Cleft Cases: A Retrospective analysis from 1997 to 2011. Front Surg 1:48.
- van Wijk AJ, Tan SP. 2006. A numeric code for identifying patterns of human tooth agenesis: a new approach. Eur J Oral Sci 114:97-101.
- Vanderas AP. 1987. Incidence of cleft lip, cleft palate, and cleft lip and palate among races: a review. Cleft Palate J 24:216-225.
- Verna C, Dalstra M, Melsen B. 2003. Bone turnover rate in rats does not influence root resorption induced by orthodontic treatment. Eur J Orthod 25:359-363.
- Watanabe A, Yoshida S, Ishii T, Saito C and Shibahara T. 2019. Surgical management of

median cleft lip extending as far as alveolus using bone grafting. Bull Tokyo Dent Coll 60:291-296. doi: 10.2209/tdcpublication.2018-0070

- Weltman B, Vig KWL, Fields HW, Shanker S, Kaizar EE. 2010. Root resorption associated with orthodontic tooth movement: A systematic review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 137:462-476.
- Wieckowska B, Materna-Kiryluk A, Wisniewska K, Kossowski T, Latos-Bielenska A. 2015. The detection of areas in Poland with an increased prevalence of isolated cleft lip with or without cleft palate. Ann Agric Environ Med 22:110-117.

- Wilcox AJ, Lie RT, Solvoll K, Taylor J, McConnaughey DR, Abyholm F, Vindenes H, Vollset SE, Drevon CA. 2007. Folic acid supplements and risk of facial clefts: national population based case-control study. Bmj 334:464.
- Yi NN, Yeow VK, Lee ST. 1999. Epidemiology of cleft lip and palate in Singapore--a 10-year hospital-based study. Ann Acad Med Singapore 28:655-659.
- Yu Y, Wan Y, Qin C, Yue H, Bian Z, He M. 2020. Novel IRF6 mutations in Chinese Han families with Van der Woude syndrome. Mol Genet Genomic Med 8:e1196.
- Zucchero TM, Cooper ME, Maher BS, Daack-Hirsch S, Nepomuceno B, Ribeiro L, Caprau D, Christensen K, Suzuki Y, Machida J, Natsume N, Yoshiura K-I, Vieira AR, Orioli IM, Castilla EE, Moreno L, Arcos-Burgos M, Lidral AC, Field LL, Liu Y-e, Ray A, Goldstein TH, Schultz RE, Shi M, Johnson MK, Kondo S, Schutte BC, Marazita ML, Murray JC. 2004. Interferon Regulatory Factor 6 (IRF6) Gene Variants and the Risk of Isolated Cleft Lip or Palate. N Engl J Med 351:769-780.

# 6. List of abbreviations

22q11DS	22q11 deletion syndrome
2D or 3D	two dimensional or three dimensional
ADAM syndrome	"amniotic deformity, adhesions, mutilations" syndrome
ALARA	as low as reasonably achievable
BBB- syndrome	the first letters of the last names of the families first diagnosed with this disorder
BCOR-gene	BCL6 corepressor
BCLP or BCL/P	bilateral cleft lip and palate or / bilateral cleft lip and palate and/or palate
cBCLP	complete bilateral cleft lip and palate
CBCT	cone beam computed tomography
CD	compact disc
CLP or CL/P	cleft lip and palate or cleft lip and/or palate
CLO	cleft lip only
CNS	central nervous system
СРО	cleft palate only
CSO	cleft soft palate only
cUCLP	complete unilateral cleft lip and palate
EARR	external apical root resorption
EEC syndrome	ectodermal dysplasia ectrodactyly cleft syndrome
ENT	ear, nose, throat
FGFR1	fibroblast growth factor receptor 1
CHARGE syndrome	"coloboma, heart anomaly, choanal atresia, retardation, genital and ear anomalies" syndrome
HB system	Huddart/Bodenham system
IMR	infant mortality rate
ICDFA	international database on craniofacial anomalies
ΙΟ	infant orthopedics
IRF6	interferon regulatory factor 6
MA	meta-analysis
MBA	multibracket appliance
NVSCA	Dutch association for cleft palate and craniofacial anomalies
nsCL/P or sCLP	non-syndromic CLP
OFC or OFCs	Orofacial cleft or orofacial clefts

OFCD	Occulo-facio-cardio-dental syndrome
OTM	Orthodontic tooth movement
OPGs	Orthopantomograms
P63	tumor protein p63, also known as transformation-related protein 63 ( <i>tp63</i> )
PA	periapical radiographs
PBX1	pre-b-cell leukemia transcription factor 1
PBX2	pre-b-cell leukemia transcription factor 2
PRS	Pierre Robin sequence
PRS-plus	Pierre Robin sequence with multiple congenital anomalies
Radboudumc	Radboud university medical centre
RCT	randomized controlled trial
sCL/P or sCLP	syndromic cleft, lip and/or palate or syndromic cleft lip and palate
SI	supplementary information
sPRS	syndromes associated with Pierre Robin sequence
SR	systematic reviews
ТА	tooth agenesis
TAC	tooth agenesis code
TBX22	t-box transcription factor 22
Tcof1	treacle ribosome biogenesis factor 1
<i>TP63</i>	tumor protein p63, typically referred to as p63, also known as transformation-related protein 63
UCLP or UCL/P	unilateral cleft lip and palate or unilateral cleft lip and/or palate
VS.	versus
VWS	van der Woude
WHO	World Health Organization
yrs.	years

### 7. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. P.-G. Jost-Brinkmann cordially for his support over the last years, making my Habilitation a productive and stimulating experience.

My heartiest thanks go to Prof. Dr. C. Opitz. I appreciate her scientific material contributions, time, ideas, and advice from the preliminary to this thesis concluding level.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Prof. Dr. A.M. Kuijpers-Jagtman (Radboud University, Nijmegen, the Netherlands) for giving me a deep insight into the research and treatment of patients with cleft lip and palate (CLP) and her constant support on research issues.

My deepest gratitude to Prof. Dr. C.E.L. Carels (University of Leuven, Belgium) for her help and critical evaluation of genetics subjects. The scientific collaboration and support over the years, and above all for her kindness and positive attitude.

My deepest thank you to Prof. Dr. C. Katsaros (University of Bern, Switzerland) for his guidance with the data from Nijmegen, his critical comments on research and clinical issues.

I would like to express my gratitude to the people involved in the interdisciplinary treatment of OFC patients. The interdisciplinary sessions have been established by the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery and the Department of Orthodontics Dentofacial Orthopedics in Charité – Universitätsmedizin, Berlin. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Centre in Nijmegen's interdisciplinary team for their meticulous record collection of CLP patients.

I would like to thank Dr. ir. E.M. Bronkhorst (Radboudumc Nijmegen, The Netherlands), for his statistical support for the data of Nijmegen.

Prof. Dr. N. Pandis (University of Bern, Switzerland) supported me with data analysis and statistics, and I would like to express my sincere appreciation.

I am profoundly indebted to Prof. Dr. G. Semb (University of Oslo, Norway, and the University of Manchester, United Kingdom) and Prof. Dr. W.C. Shaw (University of Manchester, United Kingdom). They helped me with the data collection and valuable insight into research issues. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. J.M. Draaisma and Dr. M. Kouwenberg (Department of Pediatrics, Radboud University Medical Centre, Nijmegen, The Netherlands) for the medical support and diagnosis of children with CLP and associated malformations and syndromes. Their contribution was a particular asset to this research project.

I sincerely appreciate the support of Dr. A. Schmidt and Dr. B. Theuerkauf, who meticulously collected and interpreted the data of the cleft team of Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin under the supervision of Prof. Dr. C. Opitz.

I also thank Prof. Dr. M. Spielmann for his support on genetic issues on the data on families of patients with CLP and associated anomalies.

I sincerely appreciate Mrs. C.M.R. Leenarts for her motivation, enthusiasm, and help with recording the dental casts.

I would like to thank Mrs. M. Mang de la Rosa, Dr. K. Wolf, and Dr. E. Reichardt for their participation in the collaborative authorship team.

Our office manager S. Milkereit, for her support all the years in Berlin. I would like to thank all the dental nurses from the cleft centers for helping me with the record collection and, above all, their positive and supportive attitude.

Mr. B. Bouwman and Mr. P. Then, their dedicated work on model preparation made the documentation of these patients over the years possible. I would like to thank Paul, especially, who supported me during my data collection in Nijmegen in several ways.

Last but not least, to my family, my parents, and my sister in Greece, goes my propounded gratitude for their inspiration, encouragement, and support in all my pursuits.

## 8. Erklärung

#### Erklärung

### § 4 Abs. 3 (k) der HabOMed der Charité

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass

- weder früher noch gleichzeitig ein Habilitationsverfahren durchgeführt oder angemeldet wurde,
- die vorgelegte Habilitationsschrift ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, die beschriebenen Ergebnisse selbst gewonnen sowie die verwendeten Hilfsmittel, die Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Wissenschaftlern/Wissenschaftlerinnen und mit technischen Hilfskräften sowie die verwendete Literatur vollständig in der Habilitationsschrift angegeben wurden,
- mir die geltende Habilitationsordnung bekannt ist.

Ich erkläre ferner, dass mir die Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis bekannt ist und ich mich zur Einhaltung dieser Satzung verpflichte.

02.11.2022 Datum

Unterschrift